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Financial Calendar

Annual Meeting 31 July 2008

First quarter operating information  31 July 2008

Payment September bond interest 15 September 2008

Half year announcement 30 October 2008 

Record date interim dividend  28 November 2008

Payment December bond interest  15 December 2008 

Payment interim dividend  15 December 2008

Third quarter operating information  29 January 2009

Payment of March bond interest 13 March 2009 

Full year announcement  14 May 2009

Record date of fi nal dividend 29 May 2009

Payment of fi nal dividend  5 June 2009

Payment of June bond interest  15 June 2009 

Annual report due 30 June 2009
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This year we are putting the focus on TrustPower 

people – our customers, our employees, and the 

people who we recognise every year for their 

outstanding contribution to our communities. 

We take a look at the way each and every one 

of these people contribute to our business and 

together we look forward to a powerful future.

Connecting with People

Directory

Otanewainuki Kiwi Trust 

photographs on page 12 by 

Moana Bianchin Photography. 
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Highlights
2008

Strategic Focus
2009

01

Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation, amortisation 
and fair value movements of 
fi nancial instruments grew 
6 per cent to $208 million.

TrustPower recognised 

internationally as one 

of two country level 

winners for Australia 

and New Zealand in 

the Top Companies for 

Leaders 2007 Survey 

undertaken by Hewitt 

Associates, the RBL 

Group, and Fortune 

Magazine.

Sale of 528,000 Kyoto compliant carbon credits to 
Electrabel of Belgium and Kansai Electric Power 
Company of Japan.

Complete construction of 
Snowtown Wind Farm 
Stage I on budget and 
ahead of schedule.

Complete successful resource consenting 

outcomes for the Wairau and Arnold hydro 

projects and Lake Mahinerangi and Kaiwera 

Downs wind projects.

Protect and grow 
TrustPower’s premium 
retail brand.

Development of 

Australian business 

strategy.

Optimise sale of unsold 
Kyoto Credits.
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TrustPower
is a national based electricity generator and retailer

T
he Company owns 594 MW of 

hydro and wind generation 

producing around 2,320 GWh per 

annum in an average year. 

In the last twelve months the Company 

has completed the construction and 

commissioning of a 93 MW expansion of the 

Tararua wind farm and the construction and 

commissioning of a 6 MW hydro enhancement 

known as Deep Stream at Waipori in Otago.

TrustPower is currently constructing 

a 98MW wind farm in South Australia.

The Company has around 222,000 

electricity customers and provides 26,000 

telecommunications services to around 

22,000 customers.

TrustPower has 390 employees working 

in a number of locations throughout 

New Zealand and an employee based in 

Adelaide. The Company’s head offi ce is 

based in Tauranga.

The Company’s vision is to be the leading renewable energy company in Australasia.

P R I D EI
Passion

for customer 

service.

Respect

for all 

stakeholders.

Integrity

in everything

we do and say.

Innovation

as a cornerstone 

of product

and business 

development.

Delivery

with attitude.

Empower

our people to make 

decisions and be 

accountable.

TRUSTPOWER HAS A CORE GROUP OF VALUES WHICH WE REFER TO AS

1 Counties

2 Waipa

3 Central Waikato

4 Southern Thames 

Valley

5 Tauranga/Rotorua/

Taupo

6 Wairoa

7 Hawkes Bay

8 New Plymouth

9 Wanganui

10 Manawatu

11 Wellington

12 Marlborough

13 Tasman

14 Nelson

15 Buller

16 West Coast

17 Christchurch

18 Ashburton

19 Oamaru

20 Central Otago

21 Otago

22 Dunedin

23 Invercargill/Gore  

RETAIL CUSTOMERS

TRUSTPOWER GENERATION ASSETS

1 Kaimai

2 Matahina

3 Wheao/Flaxy

4 Hinemaiaia

5 Mangorei

6 Motukawa

7 Patea

8 Tararua Wind Farm

9 Cobb

10 Waihopai

11 Argyle/Wairau

12 Arnold

13 Kumara/Dillmans/

Duffers

14 Kaniere Forks/

McKays Creek

15 Coleridge

16 Highbank

17 Montalto

18 Wahapo

19 Paerau/Patearoa

20 Waipori/Deep Stream
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TrustPower was named in the 
exclusive group of country 
winners and was the only 
New Zealand company to make 
the winners’ list.

In 2007 Hewitt Associates, The RBL 
Group and FORTUNE magazine
undertook Top Companies for Leaders, 
the world’s most comprehensive
global leadership study.
The study examined how 
organisations choose and develop
leaders, and sought to validate the
correlation between leadership 
practices and fi nancial results.
Initially, global research identifi ed
a group of more than 530 companies
throughout the world, which
shared key attributes in their 
approach to leadership that set 
them apart from others.
Hewitt Associates then assembled
a diverse judging panel of six 
distinguished experts, 
acknowledged internationally as
leaders in the areas of leadership
and business, to further assess 
those companies. Judging criteria 
included leadership practices,
company reputation, leadership 
culture and values, corporate 
social responsibility and business
performance.
The judges sought to identify
twenty Global winners, ten Asia 
Pacifi c Regional winners, and two

Country level winners each for 
Australia and New Zealand.
Representatives from Hewitt
Associates visited TrustPower,
the only New Zealand fi nalist, 
conducting a series of interviews 
and collecting evidence to confi rm 
leadership practices.
The study confi rmed that by having 
the right leadership practices and
processes in place, maintaining a 
strict focus on critical talent at all 
levels, and having a continuous 
desire to improve, Top Companies
cultivate and nurture their talent, 
earn a reputation for doing it well, 
and improve their performance.
In October 2007, TrustPower was
named in the exclusive group of 
country winners. While two
Australian companies were 
recognised, TrustPower was the
only New Zealand Company to make
the winners’ list. 
It was extraordinary for TrustPower 
to receive acknowledgement in 
such a signifi cant survey
encompassing world-class
organisations, and the entire
TrustPower team are justifi ably 
proud of this achievement.

Top CompaniesTop Companies
   for Leaders   for Leaders
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Directors’ Report
Bruce Harker BE(Hons), PhD (Elec. Eng), MIPENZ Chairman

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

TrustPower’s consolidated operating 

surplus after tax was $98.1 million for the 

year ended 31 March 2008, compared with 

$102.4 million, as restated for International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

adjustments, for the same period last year.

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, 

amortisation and fair value movements 

on fi nancial instruments (“EBITDAF”) 

grew by 6 per cent to $208.0 million from 

$196.4 million in the previous year.

Operating revenue of $681.5 million 

increased 9 per cent on the previous year 

as a result of higher energy prices charged 

to those customers paying spot market 

prices together with a $12.7 million revenue 

contribution from telecommunication 

services. Total electricity volume sold was 

4,540 GWh compared with 4,575 GWh in 

the year to 31 March 2007. Customer 

numbers increased to 222,000 at 2008 

year end from 219,000 a year earlier.

The New Zealand electricity 

environment has been characterised by 

lake storage levels and infl ows that have 

been below average for much of the 2008 

fi nancial year. However, spot electricity 

prices in the fi rst nine months remained 

below average but increased signifi cantly 

in the fi nal quarter. 

Generation production of 2,018 GWh for 

the year was up 4 per cent on the previous 

year but around 270 GWh down on long 

term average. Hydro production was 

down 220 GWh or 13 per cent on long term 

average. North Island hydro production 

accounted for around 185 GWh of this 

shortfall as a result of record low infl ows 

into a number of catchments. Wind 

production was up 272 GWh on the 

previous year due to nearly a full year’s 

contribution from Stage III of the Tararua 

Wind Farm which was commissioned in 

July 2007. However, wind production was 

also down 50 GWh (8 per cent) on long term 

average. This was due to a combination of 

lower than expected wind speeds over the 

second half of the fi nancial year and some 

Stage III turbines experiencing post 

commissioning operational issues which 

have caused lower than expected 

availability. The Company expects this 

situation to be resolved shortly.

Operating expenses including energy 

and line costs increased 10 per cent on the 

previous year, primarily driven by higher 

wholesale electricity costs. High frequency 

keeping costs in the North Island due to low 

availability of North Island hydro generation 

supply in the last quarter of the fi nancial 

year together with higher generation 

production costs have also contributed to 

increased operating expenses.

Net profi t after tax, return on average 

shareholders’ funds, was 7.9 per cent (last 

year 8.6 per cent). 

Group operating cash fl ow was 

$161.0 million for the 2008 fi nancial year 

versus $161.2 million in the previous year.

Taking into account the signifi cant 

shortfall in production from the Company’s 

own generation assets and high wholesale 

prices for the fi nal quarter of the fi nancial 

year, the result was satisfactory and again 

demonstrates that the Company’s trading 

and risk management practices are sound.

FINANCIAL POSITION

TrustPower’s balance sheet as at 

31 March 2008 remains in good shape. 

Shareholders’ funds have increased to 

$1,257 million from $1,217 million. 

Included in accounts payable and 

accruals is an amount of $102.7 million 

relating to milestone payments due under 

the Snowtown Stage I wind turbine supply 

contract. A similar amount was held in 

year end cash balances following 

settlement of foreign exchange hedge 

contracts matching the wind turbine 

supply contract obligations.
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Debt (including subordinated bonds) to 

debt plus equity was 34.3 per cent at year 

end versus 29.5 per cent in the previous 

year. This increase is due to the Company 

debt funding the capital expenditure 

programme of the last two years which 

has included the 93 MW Tararua Stage III 

wind farm, the 6 MW hydro expansion at 

Deep Stream in Otago and the partial 

construction of 98 MW of wind generation 

for Stage I of the Snowtown wind farm in 

South Australia.

TrustPower continues to maintain high 

levels of committed credit facilities. 

Including subordinated bonds the Company 

currently has equivalent of NZD 950 million 

of committed debt funding in place. Given 

the current uncertainty in fi nancial 

markets the Company decided to refi nance 

early $100 million of bank facilities due to 

mature in July 2008 and to establish an 

additional $100 million three year bank 

facility loan. The arrangements have 

recently been concluded and provide the 

Company with certainty of funding to 

undertake new smaller scale generation 

projects and, if necessary, repayment of 

the $50.5 million subordinated bond 

tranche maturing in December 2008. 

Debt facilities drawn at year end totalled 

$656 million.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

A fi nal decision has not yet been made 

with respect to the rollover or repayment 

of the subordinated bond tranche 

maturing in December 2008. However, 

current market conditions are challenging 

for issuers. As outlined in the Notice of 

Annual Meeting, the Company is seeking 

shareholder approval to issue further 

tranches of subordinated bonds. At this 

stage, the approval is sought solely to give 

the Company fl exibility to access this 

funding source if required and in 

particular for the relatively longer terms 

that can be achieved in the retail market 

for this type of funding. The Company’s 

generation development programme is in 

a fl uid state and should another major 

project reach a position where the 

Company commits to construction, it is 

important that there is a range of funding 

options readily available.

The Board has approved that the 

Company be able to buy-back up to 5 million 

of its shares over the next six months. 

Given the current volatility in fi nancial 

markets the Board considers that the 

Company should have the fl exibility to buy 

back its shares where there are opportunities 

to add value for existing shareholders.

Approval from shareholders will be sought 

at the Annual Meeting for an annual share 

buy-back programme of a similar scale.

GENERATION DEVELOPMENT

TrustPower’s New Zealand generation 

development programme continues to 

progress satisfactorily despite resource 

consenting taking longer than expected 

for many development opportunities. 

Following commissioning of the Deep 

Stream hydro enhancement project the 

Company now owns 594 MW of renewable 

generation capacity in New Zealand 

producing on average around 2,320 GWh 

per annum.

Good progress is being made on the 

development of the 98 MW Snowtown 

Stage I Wind Farm. Civil works have been 

completed and to date six wind turbines 

have been erected and commissioned. The 

balance of the planned 47 2.1 MW Suzlon 

wind turbines are expected to be 

progressively erected and commissioned 

over the next three months. If all goes to 

plan the project could be completed three 

months ahead of schedule which would be 

a pleasing outcome for the Company’s fi rst 

Australian renewable generation project.

Expensed generation development costs 

for the year were $9.5 million compared 

with $10.3 million in 2007. This expenditure 

refl ects a range of costs including 

preliminary design, environmental 

investigations and resource consent 

application costs over a number of hydro 

and wind development opportunities in 

both New Zealand and Australia.

SUSTAINABILITY

TrustPower is fi rmly committed to 

sustainability principles and readers will 

fi nd that this year’s report contains greater 

detail in support of the Company’s progress 

in relation to its sustainability goals.

TrustPower takes its environmental 

obligations very seriously and has detailed 

systems and focused resource in place to 

help manage compliance with its ever 

increasing level of consent conditions.

Pleasingly, TrustPower continues to 

report only a very small number of minor 
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non-compliance events and none of these 

events have resulted in any adverse 

environmental consequences or are the 

subject of any enforcement proceedings.

TrustPower continues to invest heavily 

in its Community Awards Programme. 

Twenty three regional awards have been 

held around the country this year 

culminating in the National Awards held in 

Wanaka during March. TrustPower is very 

proud of the Community Awards Programme 

and the outstanding community initiatives 

that are recognised through the Awards 

process. The contribution made by so 

many New Zealanders through voluntary 

work in their communities is inspirational.

In addition to the Community Awards 

Programme, TrustPower has portfolio of 

other sponsorship initiatives regionally 

targeted at assisting education, the arts 

and wider communities through support of 

school music festivals, youth orchestras, 

photographic competitions, the Bay of 

Plenty rescue helicopter in association 

with the Tauranga Energy Consumer Trust 

and signifi cant regional events that are of 

benefi t to the wider community.

During the year the Company was 

recognised internationally as one of two 

country level winners for Australia and 

New Zealand in the Top Companies for 

Leaders 2007 Survey undertaken by 

Hewitt Associates, the RBL Group and 

Fortune Magazine. Attracting and retaining 

key talent and demonstrating strong 

accountability for leadership behaviours 

at all levels of the organisation has been a 

signifi cant contributor to this result. 

TrustPower has worked hard over many 

years on leadership initiatives and 

establishing a strong culture of staff 

engagement and commitment and the 

Directors are pleased to see the Company 

recognised for its achievements. 

REGULATORY ISSUES

Legislation to enact the New Zealand 

Emission Trading Scheme (“ETS”) is 

currently under review by a parliamentary 

select committee following public 

consultation. The proposed introduction 

of the ETS for the electricity sector from 

2010 together with a ten year moratorium 

on thermal generation should provide a 

supportive environment for progressing 

renewable generation opportunities. 

TrustPower believes New Zealand’s 

electricity sector is globally well placed to 

deliver low cost renewable projects 

utilising geothermal and wind resources 

supported by hydro peaking capacity. The 

multi company industry structure also 

ensures New Zealand has a strong 

diversity of development options 

providing good resilience and cost 

competitive solutions to meet the climate 

change challenge. However, the Company 

remains frustrated by the lack of progress 

towards amendment of High Voltage 

Direct Current (“HVDC”) pricing 

methodology which is required to provide 

a level playing fi eld for new renewable 

generation in both North and South 

Islands. If this issue is not dealt with it is 

diffi cult to see how the Government’s 

objective of 90 per cent renewable 

generation by 2025 will be achieved as 

many of New Zealand’s best future wind 

and hydro sites are located in the South 

Island.

In TrustPower’s experience customers 

have good choice of alternative electricity 

retailers and TrustPower strives to offer 

the best quality retail service as its 

primary response to the competitive 

retail environment.

DIRECTORS

Mr Sam Knowles was appointed a 

Director effective 26 August 2007. 

Mr Knowles is currently Chief Executive 

of Kiwibank Limited and brings extensive 

banking and consumer marketing 

experience to the Board.

In accordance with the Company’s 

Constitution, Messrs IS Knowles, BJ Harker, 

HRL Morrison, and Sir Ron Carter will retire 

at the 2008 Annual Meeting and being 

eligible offer themselves for re-election.

The Board has also agreed that 

Directors enter into a fi xed share 

purchase plan whereby Directors will 

allocate a percentage of their directors’ 

fees and automatically instruct a share 

broker to purchase shares in the Company 

at market price following the Company’s 

annual and interim announcements. Fixed 

share purchase plans are quite common 

internationally and the Board views 

individual ownership by Directors in the 

Company as a positive way of ensuring 

that Board and shareholder interests are 

closely aligned.
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AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers has indicated 

its willingness to continue in offi ce.

DIVIDEND

The Directors are pleased to announce a 

partially imputed fi nal dividend of 15 cents 

per share, partially imputed to 11 cents per 

share, payable 6 June 2008. This together 

with an interim dividend of 15 cents per 

share provides a total payout of 30 cents 

per share relating to the 2008 fi nancial 

year. This represents growth in dividend 

payout of 11 per cent when compared with 

the 2007 fi nancial year.

Shareholders should be aware that it is 

likely that dividends for the foreseeable 

future are likely to be partially imputed as 

the Company will pay relatively lower 

levels of tax in the early years following 

the commissioning of wind farm 

developments. This is due to the 

availability of higher tax depreciation 

levels for wind farm assets which will 

result in a lower expected level of 

corporate tax to be paid. The Company 

expects that a minimum level of 60 per 

cent imputation is likely to be achieved 

on dividends over the next two to 

three years.

OUTLOOK

TrustPower believes that New Zealand’s 

signifi cant wholesale and retail price rises, 

driven initially by the end of the era of 

cheap gas and more recently to cover 

costs of moving to a renewable generation 

future, will moderate somewhat but price 

rises above infl ation are still likely for a 

period, especially as any New Zealand 

dollar weakness will be refl ected in the 

costs of new projects. 

TrustPower currently has resource 

consent applications pending for over 

550 MW of hydro and wind generation 

projects in New Zealand. TrustPower is 

working hard to ensure that it is in a 

position to progress renewable projects 

should the Company conclude that 

shareholder value is likely to be created. 

However, should this conclusion not be 

able to be reached due to regulatory 

uncertainty or negative policy impacts, 

then the Company will aim to protect the 

value of its development rights as longer 

term options.

Forecast capital expenditure in the 

2009 fi nancial year for committed 

generation development projects is 

expected to be around $70 million which 

mostly relates to the completion of Stage I 

of the Snowtown wind farm.

Generation development costs to be 

expensed in the 2009 fi nancial year are 

projected to be around $7 million.

On 1 May 2008 Transpower, as the 

independent system operator, advised 

that despite the recent rain hydro storage 

levels remain a signifi cant concern to the 

industry and as such the industry is 

continuing with contingency planning 

efforts to ensure a secure supply of 

electricity this winter. At the time of 

writing this report New Zealand hydro 

lake levels were around 60% of average 

storage for this time of year.

While it is too early to make 

predictions about the 2009 fi nancial 

year, it is worth noting that the Company 

remains in a satisfactory position to 

meet its customers’ needs this winter. 

BJ Harker
Chairman

* Information for years prior to the Group’s transition date of 1 April 2006 to NZ IFRS have been prepared under existing NZ FRS and have not been translated to 

equivalent NZ IFRS amounts.
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Most of TrustPower’s residential 
customers have joined our Friends
Extra program which gives them
extra discounts for membership.
Friends Extra customers were also 
the fi rst to be offered Kinect, our 
new telecommunications service
which provides discounted phone 
and internet services exclusively to
TrustPower electricity customers. 
Kinect is now providing close to
26,000 telecommunications 
services around New Zealand, with 
customer service provided from
both our Tauranga and Oamaru 
service centres.
Among the fi rst to join up were Ron
and Hazel Abbott. 
“We joined Kinect in the early 
stages” says Ron.  “Kinect’s people
from down the line in Oamaru gave
me excellent help when I was 
setting up my internet.  They were
great and I could understand what 
they said. With the last crowd I 
was with, the people I dealt with 
were foreigners and I couldn’t 
understand what they were saying. 
I’ve told my friends about Kinect
and they’ve joined too.” 
Kinect is now available to 
TrustPower residential customers 
throughout New Zealand.
TrustPower Kinect customers get 
a 10% discount off standard toll 
rates and a monthly discount off 
internet charges for having their 
power, phone and tolls with
TrustPower Kinect.
And for our customer’s convenience,
it’s all on one bill with just one
number to call for service. 
If you want to fi nd out more give us 
a call on 0800 900 399. 
And pretty soon TrustPower’s 
business customers will be able to 
take advantage of Kinect. We’re 
very close now to launching a
range of phone and internet 
services for small to medium 
businesses. We’re planning lower 
prices and new services, with the 
back-up support that we are 
known for. We’ll keep you posted.

Extra Customer Benefits withExtra Customer Benefits with
  Kinect Telecommunications   Kinect Telecommunications 

Ron Abbott and his mates walk to 
the top of Mount Maunganui at 
least once a week. 

Ron has his phone and internet 
with TrustPower Kinect. “When 
I was setting up my internet 
with Kinect it was great to talk 
to real people in New Zealand 
who could understand what I 
was saying”.
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Chief Executive’s 
Report

Keith Tempest BBS Chief Executive

W
hen general economic and 

business confi dence takes a 

hit, it is time to look closely 

at the most important driver of the 

business - our customers.

OUR CUSTOMERS

TrustPower has positioned itself over 

the last few years as New Zealand’s 

premium service, premium price 

electricity retailer. For residential and 

small business customers this brand 

positioning has been driven off the 

popular Friends and Business Choices sub-

brands which offer, amongst other things, 

loyalty discounts.

For larger commercial and industrial 

customers it has been about delivering 

innovative electricity solutions backed by 

a strong customer relationship and 

competitive prices.

Independent surveys show TrustPower 

continues to sit at the forefront of 

customer service quality but the business 

is continually challenged by the seemingly 

endless impositions from regulatory 

governance. The electricity sector over 

the last few years has become more 

mature but increasingly complex, with a 

new and heightened regulatory and 

market practice oversight. These regulatory 

complexities require an increasing level of 

technical skill and increasing numbers of 

suitably skilled employees, just to satisfy 

the required regulatory compliance 

processes. This adds signifi cant cost and 

without real care has the potential to take 

the focus away from the key driver of the 

business - our customers.

In the past year, TrustPower has 

maintained its retail market share in the 

face of signifi cant price led competition, 

expanded its Friends Extra programme, 

and launched the Kinect 

telecommunications brand.

As a result of purchasing the assets of 

South Island based tolls, fi xed line and 

internet provider, Call South, TrustPower 

has steadily grown its Kinect business 

offering a range of competitive 

telecommunications products to its 

electricity customers. Customers indicate 

they appreciate the simplicity of receiving 

one invoice, making their dual utility 

purchase seamless.

GENERATION DEVELOPMENT

TrustPower has spent $ 9.5 million this 

year identifying and progressing new 

generation development opportunities in 

both New Zealand and Australia. These costs 

are mostly sunk into resource consenting. 

The continuing objective is to develop a 

number of commercially viable generation 

projects through the resource consenting 

process, enabling each of these development 

options to be progressed to construction 

when market and economic conditions 

indicate a high degree of certainty that 

they will add shareholder value.

At the time of writing, the status of the 

key projects is as follows:

Marlborough, Wairau River (72 MW) 

hydro. Interim resource consent decision 

received, supplementary hearings 

completed and awaiting granting of the 

fi nal consent. The fi nal decision will 

almost inevitably be subject to appeal, 

with appeals having already been lodged 

at the interim decision stage.

West Coast, Arnold River (46 MW) 

hydro. Resource consent hearings nearing 

completion. It is anticipated that the 

consent will be granted with a low 

likelihood of going to appeal.

Otago, Mahinerangi Wind Farm (200 MW). 

Resource consents granted but conditions 

have been appealed. An Environment 

Court hearing has been concluded and it is 

anticipated that the Council’s decision will 

be upheld.

Southland, Kaiwera Downs Wind Farm 

(240 MW). Resource consent hearings have 
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been completed and it is anticipated that a 

positive decision will be received shortly. 

The decision will be subject to appeal, 

although the likelihood of this occurring 

is considered low.

South Australia Myponga Wind Farm 

(42 MW). Extensions to planning permits 

have been tentatively granted subject to 

conditions. The business case identifying 

development options for Myponga Wind 

Farm is currently being progressed.

In addition, TrustPower has a number 

of further generation development 

opportunities that are at earlier stages in 

the development pipeline. By the end of 

2008 TrustPower will have approximately 

$2 billion of generation project options 

available for early construction pending 

conducive economic and market conditions.

EXISTING GENERATION PORTFOLIO

This year has been particularly dry 

resulting in TrustPower’s hydro generation 

portfolio producing only 87 % of long-term 

average output. On a positive note, hydro 

generation plant availability and failed 

starts performance both exceeded 

expectations. The dry conditions also 

provided an opportunity to bring forward 

some scheduled plant maintenance, 

thereby avoiding lost production but 

resulting in higher maintenance 

expenditure for the year.

The Tararua Stage 3 wind farm was fully 

commissioned during the year at a cost of 

$174 million, some $6 million below budget. 

The 93 MW wind farm extension is 

expected to generate around 350 GWh of 

electricity each year, enough to supply 

about 44,000 homes.

The 6 MW Deep Stream hydro 

development in Otago has recently been 

commissioned. This $22 million hydro 

scheme takes water destined for Lake 

Mahinerangi and passes it through a 

newly formed lake, seven kilometres of 

small canals and two power houses. The 

287 metres altitude drop between the 

new lake and the second powerhouse, this 

is called a high head scheme, will produce 

excellent hydro effi ciencies.

The new lake covers an area of 25 hectares 

and sits behind a new 25 metre high earth 

dam. TrustPower has worked with the 

Dunedin City Council to lease land, for 

99 years plus a right of renewal for a 

further 99 years at $1 per year, for the 

dam, lake and other infrastructure. 

In return, TrustPower provides dry year 

reserve water from the lake for the 

Dunedin City municipal water supply.

The 98 MW Snowtown Wind Farm in 

South Australia is budgeted to cost 

AUD 202 million. At the time of writing six 

turbines have been installed and by the 

time of the TrustPower Annual Meeting at 

the end of July most of the 47 turbines will 

be commissioned. The fi rst turbine was 

installed and commissioned in late 

December 2007, some four months ahead 

of schedule, to satisfy a contractual 

condition for the wind farm’s long term 

power output agreement. The fi rst turbine 

has been running very successfully to 

date, and even though a few months do 

not indicate the long-term quality of the 

local wind resource, the results so far 

have met expectations. 

GOVERNMENT STRATEGY 

AND REGULATION

Late last year the Government released 

its National Energy Strategy, Climate 

Change Policy, and Renewable Energy 

Targets, and also imposed a moratorium 

on new thermal generation. 

The National Energy Strategy sets out 

an ambition for New Zealand to become 

carbon neutral by utilising renewable 

resources in both the electricity and 

transport sectors.

In order to meet New Zealand’s 

commitment to the Kyoto Protocol for the 

period 2008 to 2012, the Government has 

proposed legislation to establish an 

emissions trading regime where carbon 

emitters will be required to buy carbon 

offsets to compensate for their own carbon 

emissions. The originally proposed scheme 

begins with forestry in 2008, adding 

transport in 2009, electricity in 2010 and 

farming from 2012 although it now 

appears that some sectors may be delayed.

By 2025 the Government anticipates 

that 90% of New Zealand’s electricity 

production will be sourced from 

renewable sources, moving up from the 

current level of around 70%.

The Government has also proposed 

legislation which will ban the building of 

new base load thermal generation for a 

period of ten years, but will allow peaking 

thermal generation or generation that 

Chief Executive’s Report
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will be specifi cally required to meet 

security of supply.

The above initiatives are all positive for 

TrustPower with its generation currently all 

renewable hydro or wind. The generation 

developments described earlier will also 

be rewarded when these Government 

initiatives are implemented. Currently 

new gas fi red combined cycle gas 

generation is the most cost effective form 

of generation, but under the proposed 

moratorium will be banned for the next 10 

years. Geothermal generation from 

existing or already discovered geothermal 

resources is likely to be the next most cost 

effective, with several projects being 

proposed by other market generators. 

Next will be wind energy from higher 

quality wind resource sites along with 

high quality small hydro developments. 

TrustPower’s focus has been to develop 

investment options at higher quality wind 

farm and hydro sites.

In Australia at both a State and Federal 

level a similar emphasis has been placed 

on renewable electricity generation with a 

variety of renewable energy targets and 

market mechanisms introduced to 

encourage renewable energy 

development. Australia has mainly 

thermal based coal and gas generation 

with limited opportunities for further 

hydro. Wind and geothermal (using hot 

rock technology) generation is the key 

focus, which again, is consistent with 

TrustPower’s wind farm development 

programme in Australia.

CARBON TRADING

TrustPower will receive carbon credits 

from fi ve new generation developments 

through the Government’s Projects to 

Reduce Emissions scheme. In total 

TrustPower will earn about 1.3 million 

carbon credits between 2008 and 2012. 

These credits have proven to be attractive 

to international buyers with 528,000 sold 

to date for delivery over the next fi ve 

years. The balance will be traded when 

favourable market conditions prevail.

THE COMMUNITY AND 

OUR ENVIRONMENT

Our customers are not just users of 

electricity, they are an integral part of the 

fabric of our society. As well as working, 

playing and bringing up families they also 

play a huge part in their communities. 

TrustPower continues to support a large 

number of organisations across the whole 

spectrum of our community and part of 

that is not only supporting people caring 

for each other but also caring for our 

environment and the things in it. 

The TrustPower Community Awards 

Programme is our fl agship, in which a 

signifi cant number of TrustPower 

employees participate. It doesn’t stop 

there. Our generation teams include local 

communities in many of their environmental 

enhancement programmes helping ensure 

that our environment is safeguarded for 

future generations.

LOOKING AHEAD

Our generation development programme 

has been designed to help meet the 

sustainability targets set by Government 

but at the same time provide our present 

and future customers with a secure 

electricity supply.

Our customers will continue to expect 

TrustPower to not only provide them with 

top quality service, but to show concern 

and be part of improving their lives and 

the environment in which they live.

Our employees have again completed 

another exciting, challenging and I hope 

rewarding year. It is their collective skills 

and dedication that produces excellent 

business results, but it is their attitudes 

and values that makes TrustPower the 

company that it is. I wish to thank them 

for that.

Keith Tempest
Chief Executive

* Information for years prior to the Group’s transition date of 1 April 2006 to NZ IFRS have been prepared under existing NZ FRS and have not been translated to 

equivalent NZ IFRS amounts.
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We all like to call ourselves 
“Kiwis”, but real life Kiwis in 
and around Te Puke in the Bay of 
Plenty rely heavily on volunteers 
from the TrustPower Community 
Award winning Otanewainuki 
Kiwi Trust, for survival.

Children making their way to 
school, recreational users and 
sports event competitors have all 
benefited from the efforts and 
achievements of the volunteers 
who make up National Community 
Awards runner up Bike Taupo.
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The word sustainability has become 
an intrinsic part of government 
and business communications over 
recent years. More recently it has 
become a focus for the broader 
community driven by a strong media 
focus and an increasing awareness 
about the issue of climate change.
While the key focus of sustainability 
may have changed recently, the 
concept is far from new for 
TrustPower, even in areas such as 
sponsorship and community 
support and involvement.
A wonderful example of a community 
relations initiative that is truly 
sustainable is TrustPower’s 
Community Awards programme.
The programme began 15 years ago 
in the Western Bay of Plenty, in 
response to a sponsorship proposal 
to TrustPower by the then Western 
Bay Mayor Joan Keheley. Today, 
TrustPower is involved directly in 
recognising the efforts and 
achievements of voluntary 
organisations in 23 regions, and 
indirectly in a further six regions 
sponsored by organisations that 
have a relationship with TrustPower’s 
largest shareholder, Infratil. 
To be truly sustainable, sponsorships 
not only have to stand the test of 
time, but they have to be cost 
effective, impart direct benefi ts 
to those directly involved, and 
indirectly, benefi t the wider 
community. All of TrustPower’s 
23 Community Awards are run in 
partnership with local councils, 
which benefi t from having more 
than just an opportunity to recognise 
those carrying out good works in 
their communities. As one mayor 
succinctly put it, “these people 
aren’t the usual suspects – they make 
our communities a better place to 
live, work and bring up our children, 
but because they just get on doing 

things and rarely complain, we 
seldom have the opportunity to 
connect with them.”
From a volunteer’s perspective, the 
awards provide a great opportunity 
to network with like minded people, 
fi nd out what others are up to, and 
learn new “tricks of the volunteer 
trade”. For those lucky enough to 
receive an award (there were 
more than 260 in 2007 alone), the 
recognition itself is worth more than 
the cheque that accompanies it.
As the wife of one volunteer said 
recently, at TrustPower’s National 
Awards, “My husband has devoted 
most of his life to voluntary work, 
and has achieved a great deal. But 
it was not until the organisation he 
founded won our regional Community 
Award six years ago, that he got 
the credibility, in some eyes, that 
he needed to engender the support 
required to take things further. 
Since then it has been all one way 
– that recognition has led to success 
upon success, and he and the 
community are much richer for that”.
In March 2008, peers from other 
regions, and an independent panel 
of judges met to hear presentations 
and decide which voluntary 
organisation deserved to become the 
National Community Award winner 
for 2007. They overwhelmingly chose 
the Palmerston North Street Van, 
whose name only refl ects a fraction 
of what its volunteers do. The Street 
Van volunteers’ work not only 
benefi ts individuals and the 
community today, but will impact 
positively upon generations to come. 
Gaining the funding needed to carry 
out their work will hopefully become 
easier now that Street Van can note 
on its “CV” the winning of the 
TrustPower National Community 
Award, recognition that is so 
richly deserved.

Community AwardsCommunity Awards

The 46 volunteers behind 
Palmerston North’s Street Van 
are key not only to the van the 
organisation is named after, 
but also a wealth of other 
programmes including food 
parcel distribution, parent 
support groups, a grandparent 
programme, helping those with 
drug addictions, providing 
short and long term emergency 
accommodation, and assisting 
with drug and alcohol 
programmes in schools. The 
work they do not only positively 
impacts on the people they 
assist directly today, but has 
generational benefits that will 
be realised by the community 
decades into the future.

13
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The first carbon credits that 
Air New Zealand has secured are 
Emission Reduction Units from 
TrustPower’s Tararua Windfarm.

Climate change is no longer just 
about the weather. The issue 
presents both business risk and 
opportunities. Regardless of 
whether you are a sceptic or 
believer, the combination of 
recent fi lms, reports and 
Government announcements means 
the issue is fi rmly planted in 
consumer consciousness.
TrustPower, with a portfolio of 
renewable generation and a strong 
focus on the development of 
additional renewable generation, 
is in an excellent position to take 
advantage of the opportunities of 
a carbon constrained economy and 
assist our customers achieve their 
climate change goals.
Air New Zealand is one such 
customer that has a range of 
environmental initiatives 
underway as it seeks to take a key 
leadership role on environmental 
matters in the aviation industry. 
Air New Zealand customers now 
have the option to fund the 
purchase of carbon credits to 
offset their travel through the 
company’s website 
www.airnewzealand.co.nz
The carbon offset facility will be 
made progressively available to 
customers outside New Zealand 
through the airline’s international 
websites later in the year.

CarbonCarbon
 Credits Credits

Return Trip Distance CO2 Emissions Carbon Offset Cost

Auckland - Wellington 960km 133kg $4.50

Christchurch - Sydney 4,254km 402kg $13.70

Auckland - Los Angeles 20,976km 2.6tonnes $88.10

Examples of the cost of offsetting include:

“When customers purchase a fl ight 
on Air New Zealand, they will now 
be able to make a conscious choice 
about whether or not to take 
positive steps towards helping our 
environment,” says Air New Zealand 
Chief Executive, Rob Fyfe.
In estimating the cost of offsetting 
the emissions three factors are 
taken into account – the distance 
travelled, Air New Zealand specifi c 
CO2 emission factors (based on 
information from the previous 
12 months of the actual fuel used 
across different fl eet types and the 
actual number of passengers 
carried) and the current price of 
carbon credits. 
The fi rst carbon credits that Air 
New Zealand has secured are 
Emission Reduction Units from 
TrustPower’s Tararua Windfarm. 
The project was awarded these 
Kyoto carbon credits as part of the 
New Zealand Government’s Projects 
to Reduce Emissions programme.
TrustPower is also assisting a number 
of other New Zealand companies to 
directly offset their own emissions 
via the sale of carbon credits. These 
companies have identifi ed that 
offsetting their “carbon footprint” 
allows them to distinguish themselves 
from their competitors and position 
themselves to best advantage in 
light of the increasing consumer 
consciousness of climate change.

15
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Sustainability 
Outlook

T
rustPower’s performance this 

year, when measured using an 

overall sustainability framework, 

was pleasing.  

This year was characterised by 

satisfactory economic performance and 

continued strong performance with 

people and the environment. Particularly 

pleasing was being awarded the country 

level winner for New Zealand in the 

Global 2007 Top Companies for 

Leadership award.

For over 80 years TrustPower 

has consistently held a strong 

commitment to building a long 

term sustainable business. 

This commitment is embodied 

in our sustainability focus:

Building a sustainable future 
through strong relationships with 
people, respect for the environment 
and sound economic performance.

Key results are summarised below with a detailed analysis in the following sections of the report.

AREA MEASURE 2006/07 ACTUAL 2007/08 ACTUAL 2007/08 TARGET 2008/09 TARGET

Economic EBITDAF Growth 5% 6% 8-12% 8-12%

Staff Staff Survey1 - 4.9 >4 >5.15

Environmental Resource Consent 

Breaches

15 8 0 0

Customer Customer 

Satisfaction2

95% 97% >85% >85%

Community Stakeholder

Consultation

Completed Completed Complete detailed 

stakeholder 

consultation

Complete detailed 

stakeholder 

consultation

1 Scale ranges from 0 to 7.

2 Customers rating good or excellent.
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Sustainability

In achieving these results TrustPower has addressed a number of risks and challenges. Key risks and challenges are summarised 

in the following table:

CATEGORY KEY RISKS / CHALLENGES APPROACH TARGETS

Economic • Meeting future demand for electricity

• Maintaining growth in shareholder 
value 

• Develop a pipeline of opportunities 
for new investment

• Maintain a strong focus on efficiency 
of operation

• Invest in economic growth projects

• Focus on long term sustainable 
pricing

• Costs benchmarked at below industry 
average

• New projects all economically viable

• New projects completed on time and to 
budget

• Prices set at levels that ensure customer 
retention and provide  growth opportunities

Environmental • Minimise environmental impact of 
business, including generation 
schemes

• Maximise sustainability/minimise 
greenhouse gas emissions

• Work closely with special interest 
groups and the local community to 
minimise impact of new generation

• Comply with resource consent 
conditions

• Carbon neutrality

• Zero significant/avoidable resource 
consent breaches

• Carbon neutral certification

Our people • Retain and develop employees to 
maximise ongoing business 
performance

• Extensive training and development 
programmes

• Succession planning and internal 
promotion

• Staff survey results  exceed international 
benchmark 

• Continuous improvement in staff survey 
results

• 75% of management roles filled by 
internal promotion

Community • Maintain company reputation for 
community focus, interaction and 
direct involvement

• Develop and maintain mutually 
beneficial relationships in communities 
where TrustPower operates through 
sponsorship of community awards 
and projects

• Consultation with  communities and key 
stakeholders regarding resource issues

• No resource consents declined due to 
lack of consultation

Customer • Maintain high levels of customer 
satisfaction

• Retain existing and attract new 
customers

• Deliver the best possible customer 
service

• Provide customer focused information 
and advice

• Achieve and promote carbon neutrality

• Stable customer base

• >85% satisfaction in survey

• Carbon neutral certification

STAKEHOLDER INTERACTION

TrustPower’s key sustainability goals have been established following many years of effective two way interaction with a wide 

range of stakeholders. Being in touch with the issues of our stakeholders is a key part of the Company’s culture. The following table 

summarises the interaction TrustPower has had and will continue to have with its stakeholders.

STAKEHOLDER INTERACTION KEY INTERESTS AND CONCERNS HOW WE RESPOND

Generation 
Communities

• As required community/stakeholder 
meetings  on key topics of interest

• Regular community group meetings

• Stakeholder surveys

• Charitable donations and 
sponsorship

• Community Awards Programme

• Impact of electricity generation on 
communities including transport of 
goods and staff

• Impact on recreational areas around 
generation sites

• Impact on local employment

• Contribution to economic/ 
sustainable/social development of 
affected communities

• Targeting 100 per cent compliance with 
consent conditions

• Mitigation projects

• Environmental management systems

• Policy of hiring locally where local skills 
and expertise are available

• Sponsorship and management of local 
community awards

Tangata 
Whenua

• Regular formal and informal  
meetings with iwi at generation sites 

• Minimisation of any ongoing impact 
and degradation of tangata whenua 
cultural and spiritual values

• Minimisation of, or where appropriate 
mitigation for, ongoing environmental 
footprint 

• Seek to understand and acknowledge 
tangata whenua  regarding  electricity 
generation schemes

• Seek to understand and acknowledge 
the impact  of activities on values held 
by tangata whenua

• Where possible and appropriate reach 
mitigation agreement with iwi impacted 
by generation operations

Continued on next page...
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Customers • Customer interaction through 
customer service staff, meter 
readers, account managers and 
community relation activities

• Customer surveys

• Customer newsletters

• Website

• Cost, reliability of and access to 
electricity supply

• Customer service and satisfaction

• Energy efficiency and renewable 
generation

• Company reputation

• Treat all customers fairly and with respect

• Be aware of and seek to minimise risk 
for customers with vulnerabilities

• Provide energy efficiency advice to 
customers

• Aim to provide the highest possible 
level of service

• Deliver open and transparent pricing/ 
billing

Employees • Staff surveys

• Staff newsletter

• Intranet

• Direct engagement on key topics of 
interest

• Staff committee

• Chief Executive’s staff updates

• Inter-team challenges, sports and fun 
evenings

• Employee involvement in community 
activities

• Work/life balance

• Achieving and maintaining zero 
health and safety incidents

• Competitive rates of pay

• Being a socially and environmentally 
responsible employer

• Training and development

• Be regarded and respected as a 
responsible employer and an 
employer of choice

• Monitor staff work levels, performance 
and feedback

• Provide Wellness and EAP programmes

• Promote Safety Week to employees and 
their children

• Promote and operate a democratically 
elected Health and Safety Committee

• Promote and operate a democratically 
elected Staff Committee

• Keep employees well informed about 
our business

• Actively engage with employees

• Promote internally for 75% of positions

• Deliver market based remuneration

• Provide leadership development 
programme

• Subsidise life, trauma and income 
protection insurance

Special Interest 
Groups

• Meetings to discuss key topics of 
interest and/or concern

• Partnerships and funding to deliver, 
where appropriate, community benefi t

• Respond to information requests

• Membership of relevant organisations

• Community Connect website

• Contribution to climate change

• Impact on local communities – 
positive and negative

• TrustPower’s interest in and ability to 
support community development

• Promotion of and support for 
community voluntary sector

• Contribution to climate change strategy 
and policy

• Submit on the New Zealand Energy 
Strategy and other key energy policy 
documents

• Develop renewable electricity generation 

• Actively engage with and contribute to 
the community voluntary sector

Government • Briefings with Ministers and officials

• Submissions on policy

• Contributions to development of policy

• Participation in working groups, 
conferences and meetings

• Security of supply

• Ensuring company  corporate social 
responsibility 

• Assist with development of climate 
change strategy

• Engage with Government and other 
stakeholders and submit on the New 
Zealand Energy Strategy and other key 
energy policy documents

• Develop renewable electricity generation

Electricity 
Sector

• Submissions on electricity sector policy

• Participation in utility forums

• Working with other industry 
stakeholders with mutual interests 
related to planning and regulation

• Security of supply

• Submission on the New Zealand Energy 
Strategy

• Participation in working groups, 
conferences and other key forums on 
key topics of mutual interest

Suppliers and 
Contractors

• Contractual arrangements

• Procurement policy

• TrustPower policies/procedures and 
requirements clearly communicated 
and understood

• Development and implementation of a 
sustainable procurement policy

General 
Community

• Media liaison

• Public meetings

• Direct mail communications

• Advertising

• Website

• Direct Community involvement

• Keeping the lights on uninterrupted

• Contribution to climate change 
debate/policy

• Cost and access to energy

• Impact on local communities positive 
and negative

• Climate change strategy

• Submission to the New Zealand Energy 
Strategy

• Direct community involvement, 
interaction, sponsorship and support.

Shareholders • Annual meeting

• Board representatives

• Reports and publications

• Sustainable earnings

• Growth

• Growing shareholder value

• Achieve carbon neutrality

• Considered economic investment

• Deliver sustainable shareholder returns

...continued from previous page

STAKEHOLDER INTERACTION KEY INTERESTS AND CONCERNS HOW WE RESPOND
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Becoming
Carbon Neutral

A
t the time of writing this report 

TrustPower is in the fi nal stages 

of receiving carboNZero 

certifi cation for its activities. 

It is expected that a formal 

announcement will be made about the 

same time as this report is published. 

At that time a disclosure statement 

summarising TrustPower’s certifi cation will 

be available on the carboNZero website. 

WHAT WILL IT MEAN?

carboNZero certifi cation means that 

the New Zealand based business activities 

of generating and retailing electricity do 

not contribute to the build-up of 

greenhouse gases in the atmosphere. 

The carboNZero certifi cate is issued by 

Landcare Research and independently 

audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers.

The carboNZero certifi cation sought is 

in respect of TrustPower’s generation 

activities and corporate operations. The 

certifi cation does not extend to the sale of 

carbon neutral electricity.

carboNZero certifi cation is not just about 

measuring emissions and offsetting any 

shortfall with carbon credits. What makes 

the difference is that carboNZero 

certifi cation requires organisations to 

reduce their emissions as much as possible 

before offsetting the unavoidable 

remainder. It requires an emissions 

reduction plan signed off by the Chief 

Executive, Board and senior management 

who have responsibility for ensuring the 

planned reductions are achieved.

WHAT WAS MEASURED?

TrustPower followed international 

protocols in determining what was 

accounted for in terms of its carbon 

emissions. All of the Company’s emissions 

were measured for the following:

• Energy use in buildings

• Transport and fuel use, including air travel

• Waste to landfi ll generated from operations

• Fuel and travel for most contractors

The life cycle emissions for the construction 

of the Tararua Wind Farm Stage III expansion 

have also been measured. These emissions 

will be offset outside of the carboNZero 

project in association with the Government’s 

Project to Reduce Emissions.

Signifi cant exclusions include:

• Hydro generation construction at Waipori

• Land holdings – some of which have 

associated agricultural operations

• Electricity purchased from the national 

grid over and above generation

Many of the exclusions will be included 

in future reporting when more reliable 

data is available.

WHY DO IT?

TrustPower is a strong supporter of 

carbon trading and has been actively 

supporting a robust carbon trading system 

in New Zealand. TrustPower has sold carbon 

credits from its generation schemes to 

others, including our competitors, to help 

them reduce their carbon footprint. 

Given its leadership role in the 

development of carbon policy and 

practice in New Zealand TrustPower felt 

it important that its own operations were 

carbon neutral.

NEXT STEPS

As long standing totally renewable 

generator TrustPower sees gaining 

carboNZero certifi cation as an important 

fi rst step. The challenge now is to take each 

of the areas measured and further reduce 

the impact on greenhouse gas emissions.
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Environmental 
Performance

T
rustPower’s goal is to minimise the 

adverse environmental impact of 

each of our 20 generation schemes. 

The Company currently operates 19 hydro 

schemes and 1 wind farm. The majority of 

our hydro schemes operate from lakes with 

some being operated as run of river schemes. 

Over 80% of the storage is contained in the 

fi ve largest lakes which have an approximate 

storage of 2.8 billion cubic metres and 

cover a combined area of approximately 

6,828 hectares. During an average year 

approximately 39.5 billion litres of water 

pass through these fi ve schemes and is 

returned to the existing natural waterways. 

Each of the schemes operates under a 

Resource Consent. These consents contain 

conditions that were established following 

an extensive consultative and regulatory 

review process. TrustPower’s key measure 

of environmental sustainability is 

compliance with these consents.

AVOIDING NON-COMPLIANCE EVENTS 

TrustPower’s goal is to have zero non 

compliance events. Currently TrustPower 

holds 462 Resource Consents made up of 

2,769 conditions with which TrustPower 

must comply. These numbers have 

increased by 124 and 1,032 respectively in 

the 3 years ending November 2007. 

Last year TrustPower undertook a 

review of its compliance record and 

monitoring system. This review resulted 

in the implementation of a number of 

initiatives to improve the non compliance 

record for this year. This year further on 

site training has been undertaken to keep 

the profi le of non compliance in the 

forefront of plant operators’ minds during 

their daily operations. As a result of 

implementing a number of these 

initiatives TrustPower’s non compliance 

events dropped from 15 last year to 8 for 

the current year. 

No enforcement action was taken 

against TrustPower in the year. 

MANAGING CONTAMINANT RELEASES

The term ‘contaminant release’ refers 

to the uncontrolled or accidental release 

of a hazardous substance. Three 

contaminant releases occurred in the 

year. All were minor in nature and none 

resulted in any adverse environmental 

effects.

On all occasions the events were 

notifi ed and dealt with appropriately in 

conjunction with territorial authorities. 

In March 2008 TrustPower combined 

with Environment Bay of Plenty (‘EBOP’) 

staff in a joint training exercise which 

utilised the experience and equipment of 

the regional council Pollution Prevention 

Team. This training was extremely 

benefi cial for both regional council and 

TrustPower staff. The exercise was 

scenario based and focused on 

assessment of an emergency situation 

and site selection for and the deployment 

of equipment. 

This scenario also allowed TrustPower 

staff to follow the contaminant release 

management procedure contained in its 

Environmental Management System.

Following the training, TrustPower staff 

offer their assistance wherever possible in 

the event of an oil spill in the region.

COMPLIANCE AND HAZARDOUS 

SUBSTANCES TRAINING

Training and education of TrustPower 

staff is vital in reducing non compliance 

and contaminant release events. 

Following on from 2007 further training 

was provided to all TrustPower site staff. 

While the main objective of this training 

was to avoid non compliance and 

contaminant release events, it included a 

focus on the procedures and appropriate 

response to such events.  

This training was also used to ensure 

good lines of communication were 
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maintained between site staff and those 

based in Tauranga with the objective of 

continuously improving TrustPower’s 

compliance record. This training gave site 

staff an opportunity to comment on any 

areas they believed could be improved.

RECONSENTING

Resource consents to operate and 

maintain four of TrustPower’s hydro 

generation schemes, Patea, Matahina, 

Wahapo and McKays / Kaniere Forks, 

are due to expire in the next two years. 

To enable the continued operation and 

maintenance of each of these schemes, 

applications for replacement resource 

consents need to be lodged with the 

appropriate regional and district 

authorities. Assessments, investigations 

and initial consultation processes 

commenced during 2006. Applications 

for resource consents for the Patea 

scheme were lodged in November 2007. 

Resource consent applications for the 

remaining schemes are to be lodged in 

August 2008 (Wahapo), April 2009 

(Matahina) and October 2010 (McKays / 

Kaniere Forks) respectively. 

Investigations and consultation for these 

applications will continue this year in 

preparation for lodgement.

PLANNING

Because TrustPower has assets located 

throughout New Zealand, and a number of 

new development applications currently in 

the consenting process, TrustPower 

maintains an involvement with most of 

New Zealand’s district and regional 

planning processes. TrustPower monitors 

63 councils throughout New Zealand and 

is involved at a national government 

policy level providing comments to assist 

with discussion documents, strategies, 

National Environmental Standards and 

National Policy Statements.

The planning workload has been 

increasing over the past year to the point 

where it is currently higher than ever 

before and continuing to increase. Over 

the last year the most notable planning 

outcomes were:

• Resolving all outstanding issues involving 

the West Coast Water Plan without 

needing to go to the Environment Court. 

• Achieving controlled activity status for 

the reconsenting of some of our 

existing assets. 

• Presenting evidence at the Environment 

Waikato variation 6 water allocation 

hearing, for which a decision is expected 

in mid 2008. 

• Several of the amendments suggested 

by TrustPower were recorded in the 

updated New Zealand Energy Strategy.

NEW DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS

The current year has again seen a 

signifi cant focus on new generation 

projects. A summary of these follow:

• The Mahinerangi Wind Farm was 

granted resource consents which were 

subsequently appealed to the 

Environment Court. The Environment 

Court hearing has been completed 

during May 2008. 

• The Kaiwera Downs Wind Farm 

resource consent hearing commenced in 

Gore on the 30th of March 2008 and ran 

for two weeks. A decision is expected to 

be released in early June 2008.  

• The Wairau Valley hydro generation 

scheme resource consent application 

process continued during the year with 

the hearing on the interim consent 

conditions held in February 2008. The 

fi nal decision on this hearing is 

expected to be released mid-2008.

• The proposed Arnold hydro generation 

scheme had the majority of its 

application for resource consents heard 

with the fi nal 2 – 3 days being deferred 

to mid 2008.

Environment
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Our Customers
A

s a retailer of electricity and 

telecommunications services, 

customer service and subsequent 

customer satisfaction and retention is 

paramount at TrustPower. 

We strive to retain our position as 

New Zealand’s recognised service leader 

in the electricity retail sector, and support 

this goal through a number of customer 

service, safety, and information initiatives. 

TrustPower’s service mantra is “real 

things for real people”. This means making 

sure that communication, no matter what 

channel it is delivered through, is provided 

in a plain English, non-corporate way. It 

also means that any issues that customers 

have are resolved fi rst time by service 

people who treat customers in the way that 

they themselves would like to be treated.

CUSTOMER SERVICE

The key elements of service for 

TrustPower are managed through our 

customer contact centre, billing and 

receipting, credit management and 

marketing functions. These functions all 

report through TrustPower’s Retail 

Division, to ensure a consistency of 

approach to customer service.

The success of this approach to service 

is measured in a number of ways:

• A biannual satisfaction survey that 

measures the Company’s performance 

against key attributes that have been 

identifi ed by customers through regular 

focus groups.

• Real time satisfaction monitoring 

through post call surveys measures 

satisfaction at service person level, as 

well as across teams and at aggregate 

level on a daily basis.

• Monitoring of TrustPower’s customer 

satisfaction rating in New Zealand’s 

leading consumer magazine’s annual 

survey, which provides a benchmark 

against other NZ electricity retailers. 

TrustPower had the highest rating in 2007.

• Service people have a set number of 

calls monitored each week and these 

are assessed against service quality 

benchmarks.

• First contact resolution (i.e. fi rst time 

problem solving) is measured through 

real time surveys, call quality 

monitoring, biannual surveys and 

through measuring internal problem 

escalation.

• Billing and receipting accuracy and 

timeliness is reported weekly.

• Customer correspondence and complaints 

are analysed and reported weekly.

CUSTOMER REWARDS

Through its Friends, Friends Extra 

and Business Choices programmes, 

TrustPower rewards the majority of 

customers with discounts for their loyalty 

and payment history. 

CUSTOMER SAFETY

While TrustPower has a limited ability 

to manage electrical safety as it is not the 

network owner, TrustPower ensures that 

where a site is to be re-livened after a 

signifi cant period, the required inspection 

and compliance documentation is 

completed. TrustPower also ensures that 

any property is made safe prior to 

re-livening after disconnection.

In some circumstances the disconnection 

of electricity supply may affect the health 

and well-being of a customer. This is 

particularly the case where the customer is 

dependent on powered medical equipment, 

or where the customer is vulnerable due 

to age or illness or has young children. 

TrustPower maintains a register of these 

customers and has an extensive internal 

process, which includes cooperation with 

social agencies, to ensure that customer 

well-being is protected where 

disconnection of supply is likely to occur.

CUSTOMER INFORMATION

In addition to query and problem 

resolution and advice provided via its 

contact centre, TrustPower provides 

customers with information that is 

designed to allow them to manage their 

energy consumption and costs.

This includes provision of energy saving 

guides, and TrustPower’s Power Bill 

Review Service, which helps customers to 

choose the products that best fi t their 

individual circumstances.

TrustPower’s industrial customers with 

advanced metering are provided, via a 

web portal, with extensive usage and cost 

data, which is often customised for their 

individual needs.

COMPLIANCE

TrustPower is required to comply with a 

number of industry codes of practice, and 

particularly those relating to customer 

complaint management and vulnerable 
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Customers

and low income customer protection. 

TrustPower meets its obligations under 

these codes and had no non-compliance 

events in the year.

TrustPower must also meet its legal 

obligations under the relevant Acts with 

respect to customer transactions and 

marketing communications.

Relevant staff receive regular training 

regarding these requirements, and 

marketing communications undergo legal 

review prior to publication.

TrustPower meets its obligations under 

these Acts and had no breach events 

in the year.
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Our People
O

n 30 March 2007 TrustPower 

acquired the full operations of 

CallSouth and Pulse Business 

Solutions based in Oamaru.  

While TrustPower had previously 

utilised this organisation as an outsourced 

call centre, the Company was pleased to 

welcome a further eighty-fi ve staff to its 

community of employees. In addition, a 

further seven graduates entered the 

Graduate Programme and the fi rst 

employee for TrustPower Australian 

Holdings Pty Ltd (TPAH) took up his role 

based in Adelaide during September.  

EMPLOYMENT BRANDING 

AND ATTRACTION

TrustPower values effi ciency, simplicity, 

and smart work practices. It endeavours to 

hire the smartest, most passionate people 

and places great emphasis on maintaining 

a transparent and intellectually honest 

environment where everyone’s opinion is 

respected and where employee contributions 

are acknowledged and rewarded.

While a key goal is to fi ll 75% of internal 

vacancies using existing TrustPower 

employees, as the organisation grows, there 

will be a continuing need to attract talented 

employees from outside the organisation. 

TrustPower has worked extensively in 

the past year to market its employee value 

proposition as a great place to work. This 

has included specifi c campaigns to attract 

graduates and caregivers returning to the 

workforce. Inviting current employees to 

participate at selected Career Fairs and 

Expos provides prospective new employees 

with fi rst hand experience of what it means 

to work as part of the TrustPower team.  

A new Careers function was added to the 

TrustPower Website in the later part of the 

year. In addition to attracting one thousand 

two hundred potential employee candidates 

to our e-recruitment tool via the Website, 

and sourcing a number of new entry level 

employees through this medium, this active 

marketing of the Company’s employment 

brand has contributed to a signifi cant 

reduction in recruitment advertising costs. 

RETENTION AND CAPABILITY 

BUILDING

TrustPower has conducted Employee 

Engagement Surveys annually since 2004, 

and this year to enable an external 

benchmark it utilised a global survey 

managed by US based Corporate Executive 

Board. The Corporate Executive Board 

survey template is relatively new, with 

responses from 25,000 employees across 

37 companies ranging in size from less than 

500 to 10,000 employees in Africa, Asia, 

Australia, New Zealand, Canada, Europe, 

South America and the US. This useful 

measure has confi rmed that TrustPower 

tracks positively when measured against 

global organisations.

TrustPower will continue to benchmark 

globally each year with a goal of increasing 

engagement index results year on year by 

a minimum of 0.25 points across seven of 

the eight key indices.  

NATIONALLY RECOGNISED LEARNING

Seven Modern Day Apprentices at 

TrustPower generation schemes are 

continuing to attain nationally 

recognised Unit Standards against a 

range of electrician, engineering, and 

other qualifi cations relevant in the course 

of their careers. Within the Contact 

Centres 47 customer service employees 

are also working to attain Contact Centre 

Operations National Certifi cate 

Level Three.

LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT

TrustPower implemented its Executive 

Leadership Development programme in 

2006.  During the past year the Company 

has continued to internally cascade 

development at three levels throughout 

the business (executive, leadership and 

frontline management) with a further 42 

staff participating.  This brought the 

number of participants entering 

leadership development programmes to 

71, including a growing number not 

currently in leadership positions as an 

investment in growing and developing 

future leaders for succession.  

HEALTH AND SAFETY

TrustPower believes that every 

employee has the right to end each day at 

work in the same condition they started. 

Employees support that goal by striving to 

reduce injury incidents by 25% year on 

year with an ultimate goal of zero injury 

incidents. The challenge continues to be 

dog control issues for those in meter 

reading roles, and TrustPower is launching 

a forum in 2008 involving Local Bodies, 

Police, and other Utility Providers in an 

effort to address this problem.
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Employer Relations

TrustPower has three strategic 
“Our People” goals

To be the leading employer of choice

To have sustainable 

people resources

To demonstrate a strong 
sense of community
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T
he Company’s economic goal is 

to produce steadily growing 

profi tability over the long term. 

This meets shareholder requirements 

for increasing returns while at the same 

time reducing the risks associated with 

rapid growth.

This is refl ected in dividend growth 

which has been a feature of ownership 

of TrustPower shares. While TrustPower’s 

share price fell this year, consistent with a 

fall in the whole sharemarket, there 

remains a long term trend of increased 

shareholder wealth. The fundamental 

economic performance of the company 

remains sound. 

UNDERSTANDING TRUSTPOWER’S 

ASSETS

TrustPower is a generator and retailer 

of electricity. The generation of electricity 

is an asset intensive activity and, as 

shown below, the Company has invested 

heavily in hydro and wind generation 

assets. TrustPower revalues these 

generation assets to estimated market 

value on a three yearly cycle with the last 

revaluation occurring as at 31 March 2007. 

Electricity retailing relies on a reliable 

source of electricity and the 

infrastructure and systems to administer 

large quantities of data and contracts. 

TrustPower’s electricity customer base 

values are disclosed in the fi nancial 

statements at historic cost and amortised 

over a period of up to 20 years. The Bay of 

Plenty customers that TrustPower has 

served historically and any subsequent 

customers acquired by marketing efforts 

are not refl ected in the amortised customer 

base values. In March 2007 TrustPower 

purchased a telecommunications customer 

base to become a full service 

telecommunications provider.

UNDERSTANDING TRUSTPOWER’S 

EARNINGS

TrustPower’s operating revenue 

predominately comes from the sale of 

electricity to customers. TrustPower sells 

more electricity than it generates with 

the balance coming from other generation 

suppliers and competitors. Operating 

performance can vary year to year and 

within reporting periods due to a number 

of factors both within the control and 

outside the control of the Company. 

Key drivers to individual period 

profi tability include weather patterns 

(affecting market prices and generation 

levels) and the Company’s trading and risk 

position (the degree to which it is affected 

by exposure to spot electricity prices).

The adjacent graph shows an Earnings 

Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation, 

Amortisation, and Fair Value Movements 

of Financial Instruments (EBITDAF) 

measure by quarter over the last fi ve 

years. While on a quarter by quarter basis 

EBITDAF can move signifi cantly the 

Company aims to produce sustainable 

EBITDAF growth year after year.

Sustainable Economic 
Performance

Five Year Economic Summary

MAR 04* MAR 05* MAR 06* MAR 07 MAR 08

Electricity customer numbers (000’s) 224 225 220 219 222 

Telecommunication services (000’s)  -    -    -    16 26 

Customer sales (GWh) 5,656 5,873 4,724 4,575 4,540 

Weighted average spot price of electricity purchased ($/MWh) 71 43 94 63 64 

Hydro generation production (GWh) 1,598 1,811 1,523 1,667 1,472 

Wind generation production (GWh) 140 260 268 274 546 

Weighted average spot price of electricity generated ($/MWh) 70 39 91 62 63 

$M $M $M $M $M

Operating Revenue 632 612 677 626 681 

EBITDAF 140 173 186 196 208 

Fair Value Gains/(Losses) -   -   -   2 1 

Amortisation and Depreciation (23) (28) (28) (28) (32)

Interest Paid (29) (33) (29) (27) (40)

Tax Expense (26) (39) (48) (41) (39)

Operating Surplus 62 73 81 102 98 

Shareholders’ Equity 866 883 896 1,217 1,257 

Current and Other Assets 63 78 133 117 254 

Fixed Assets 1,273 1,257 1,263 1,905 2,057 

Intangible Assets 45 42 39 43 40 

Total Assets 1,381 1,377 1,435 2,065 2,351 

Current and Other Liabilities 95 88 131 132 231 

Deferred Tax Liability 40 46 48 207 207 

Term Debt 380 360 360 509 656 

Total Liabilities 515 494 539 848 1,094 

Net Assets 866 883 896 1,217 1,257 

Earnings Per Share (cents)1 17 23 26 32 31

Dividends Per Share (cents)1 202 20 23 27 30

Return on Average Shareholders’ Funds 7.2% 8.3% 9.1% 9.7% 7.9%

* Information for years prior to the Group’s transition date of 1 April 2006 to NZ IFRS have been prepared under existing NZ FRS and have not been translated to equivalent NZ IFRS amounts.
1 Adjusted for a 2:1 share split on 2 April 2004
2 Includes 5c/share special dividend
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Economic Performance

* Information for years prior to the Group’s transition date of 1 April 2006 to NZ IFRS have been prepared under existing NZ FRS and have not been translated to 

equivalent NZ IFRS amounts.
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ROLE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors are elected by the 

shareholders and are responsible to the 

shareholders for the performance of the 

Group. Their focus is to enhance the 

interests of shareholders and other key 

stakeholders and to ensure the Group is 

properly managed. The Board draws on 

relevant corporate governance best 

practice principles to assist and contribute 

to the performance of the Group.

The Board has developed a charter that 

outlines responsibilities that encompass 

the following:

• Setting the strategic direction of 

TrustPower and monitoring management's 

implementation of that strategy.

• Selecting and appointing (and, if 

appropriate, removing from offi ce) the 

Chief Executive, determining his/her 

conditions of service and monitoring 

his/her performance against 

established objectives.

• Ratifying the appointment (and, if 

appropriate, removing from offi ce) 

the Chief Financial Offi cer and 

Company Secretary.

• Ratifying the remuneration of senior 

management consistent with their 

employment agreements.

• Monitoring fi nancial outcomes and the 

integrity of reporting, and, in particular, 

approving annual budgets and longer-

term strategic and business plans.

• Setting specifi c limits of authority for 

management to commit to new 

expenditure, enter contracts or acquire 

businesses without prior Board approval.

• Ensuring that effective audit, risk 

management and compliance systems 

are in place to protect the Company's 

assets and to minimise the possibility of 

the Group operating beyond legal 

requirements or beyond acceptable 

risk parameters.

• Monitoring compliance with regulatory 

requirements (including continuous 

disclosure) and setting ethical standards 

and then monitoring compliance with 

those standards.

• Reviewing, on a regular basis, senior 

management succession planning and 

development.

• Ensuring effective and timely reporting 

to shareholders. 

The Board has nine scheduled one day 

meetings, an extended strategic planning 

meeting at least once a year, at least four 

Audit Committee meetings and several 

unscheduled meetings to consider and/or 

review substantial projects and any other 

special circumstances that may arise from 

time to time.

The full Board determines the Board 

size and composition, subject to limits 

imposed by the Company's Constitution 

which is required to comply with the NZX 

Listing Rules. The Constitution provides 

for a minimum of three Directors and a 

maximum of seven. 

The Constitution and NZX Listing Rules 

also require that while there are a total of 

six or seven Directors, two must be 

independent Directors. As at 31 March 

2008, the Board has determined that the 

independent Directors of TrustPower are 

RP Carter, GJC Swier, and IS Knowles and 

the non-independent Directors of 

TrustPower are MJ Cooney, BJ Harker, and 

HRL Morrison.

The Board has established two standing 

Subcommittees being; the Audit Committee 

and the Remuneration Committee. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established a standing 

Audit Committee consisting of three 

Board members. The Committee meets at 

least four times a year. Members of the 

Committee are: GJC Swier (Chairman), BJ 

Harker, and RP Carter.

The role of the Audit Committee is 

formally recorded in a charter document 

approved by the Board of Directors. The 

primary objective of the Committee, as 

set out in the charter, is to assist the 

Board in fulfi lling its responsibilities 

relating to accounting and reporting 

practices of the Group. In particular, the 

Committee’s main responsibilities are to:

• Review and report to the Board on the 

annual report, the interim fi nancial 

report and all other fi nancial 

information published by the Group or 

released to the market.

• Assist the Board in reviewing the 

effectiveness of the organisation’s 

internal control environment. 

• Determine the scope of the internal 

audit function and ensure that its 

resources are adequate and used 

effectively, including co-ordination with 

external auditors.

• Oversee the effective operation of the 

risk management framework.

• Recommend to the Board the 

appointment, removal and remuneration 

of the external auditors, and review the 

terms of their engagement, and the 

scope and quality of the audit.

• Review and approve, within established 

procedures, and before commencement, 

the nature and scope of non-audit 

services being provided by the external 

auditors. These procedures include 

quantitative and qualitative thresholds 

for the review, and include all relatively 

signifi cant projects.

In fulfi lling its responsibilities, the Audit 

Committee receives regular reports from 

management and the internal and 

external auditors. It also meets with the 

internal and external auditors at least 

three times a year – more frequently if 

necessary. The internal and external 

auditors have a clear line of direct 

communication at any time to either the 

Chairperson of the Audit Committee or 

the Chairperson of the Board.

THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established a 

Remuneration Committee which has two 

Directors as members, BJ Harker and GJC 

Swier. The role of the Remuneration 

Committee is formally recorded in a 

Corporate Governance 
Statement
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charter document approved by the Board 

of Directors.

The primary objectives of the 

Remuneration Committee are to: 

• Help enable the Company to attract, 

retain and motivate executives and 

Directors who will create value for 

shareholders.

• Fairly and reasonably reward 

executives having regard to the 

performance of the Company, the 

performance of the executives and the 

general pay environment.

• Help the Company comply with the 

provisions of the Employment Relations 

Act 2000, the Companies Act 1993, the 

NZX Listing Rules and any other relevant 

legal requirements.

The responsibilities of the 

Committee include:

• Reviewing and recommending to the 

Board for approval the remuneration 

policy for Directors and senior 

executives and ensuring that the 

structure of the policy allows the 

Company to attract and retain 

Directors and senior executives of 

suffi cient calibre to facilitate the 

effi cient and effective management of 

the Company's operations.

• Annual review and recommendation to 

the Board for approval of the 

remuneration packages of all Directors 

and senior executives of the Company.

• With reference to the Board, managing 

the employment or deployment of the 

Chief Executive and negotiation of 

employment terms.

• Participation in the process of 

employment of the Chief Financial 

Offi cer and recommendation to the 

Board of its confi dence in any 

appointment.

• Establishment of appropriate 

performance criteria, from time to 

time, for the Executive Share Option 

Plan and to make recommendations to 

the Board. 

OTHER SUBCOMMITTEES

The Board has recently established a 

sub committee including BJ Harker, 

MJ Cooney and RP Carter to oversee any 

transaction to be undertaken by the 

Company in relation to on-market 

share buybacks.

REVIEW OF BOARD PERFORMANCE

An annual review of the performance 

of the Board and individual Directors is 

undertaken by the Chairman. The Institute 

of Directors on-line survey is currently 

utilised as a mechanism for undertaking 

this review.

COMPLIANCE WITH NZX CORPORATE 

GOVERNANCE BEST PRACTICE CODE 

AND OTHER GUIDELINES

As a listed issuer TrustPower is 

required to disclose in its Annual Report 

whether, and to what extent, its corporate 

governance principles materially differ 

from the NZX Corporate Governance Best 

Practice Code.

TrustPower believes that it complies in 

all material respects with the Code. 

However, it should be noted that the 

TrustPower Board has chosen not to 

constitute a Nominations Committee as 

recommended by the Code. The Board has 

decided that Director nominations are 

able to be handled more effectively by the 

full Board.

CODE OF ETHICS

A Code of Ethics has been developed 

and approved by the Board. TrustPower is 

committed to maintaining the highest 

standards of honesty, integrity and ethical 

conduct and has adopted a Code of Ethics 

to deter wrongdoing and to promote:

• Honest and ethical conduct, including 

the ethical handling of actual or 

apparent confl icts of interest between 

personal and professional relationships.

• Full, fair, accurate, timely and 

understandable disclosure in reports 

and documents fi led by the Company 

and in other public communications 

made by the Company.

• Compliance with applicable laws, rules 

and regulations.

• Internal reporting to the Board of 

Directors of violations of this Code 

of Ethics.

• Accountability for adherence to the 

Code of Ethics.

The Code of Ethics is not an exhaustive 

list of acceptable or non-acceptable 

behaviour, rather it is intended to guide 

decisions so they are consistent with 

TrustPower's values, business goals and 

legal and policy obligations.

Failure to follow the Code of Ethics may 

lead to disciplinary action being taken, 

which may include dismissal. The Code of 

Ethics applies to the Board of Directors 

and the Company’s employees.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group has adopted a system of 

internal control. The system is based upon 

written procedures, policies, guidelines 

and organisational structures that provide 

an appropriate division of responsibility, 

sound risk management, a programme of 

internal audit, and the careful selection 

and training of qualifi ed personnel.

While the Board acknowledges that it 

is responsible for the overall control 

framework of the Group, it recognises that 

no cost effective internal control system 

will preclude all errors and irregularities.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has developed a 

comprehensive, enterprise-wide risk 

management framework. Management 

actively participate in the identifi cation, 

assessment, and monitoring of new and 

existing risks. Particular attention is given 

to market risks that could impact on the 

Group. Management undertake regular 

reporting to appraise the Audit Committee 

and the Board of the Company’s risks and 

the treatment of those risks.

The Audit Committee reviews and if 

considered satisfactory, recommends for 

approval by the Board annually, the 

Company’s insurance programme.

Corporate Governance Statement
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WHOLESALE ELECTRICITY 

TRADING POLICY

The Group has adopted a Wholesale 

Electricity Trading Policy to manage the 

risk relating to the purchasing of electricity 

from the wholesale electricity market. 

Derivative instruments can be used to set 

the price of electricity at a future nominated 

time. The Wholesale Electricity Trading 

Policy allows wholesale electricity trading 

to occur within risk limits set by the Board.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has a Treasury Policy to 

manage fi nance, interest rate, foreign 

exchange and foreign investment risks. 

The Policy approves the use of certain 

instruments for risk management 

purposes, and it prohibits any activity 

that is purely speculative in nature. It also 

sets out exposure limits, delegated 

authorities and internal controls.

DELEGATED AUTHORITIES POLICY

The Group has a Delegated Authorities 

Policy in place that has been approved by 

the Board. The Policy provides limited 

authority to certain Group executives to 

purchase goods and services, enter into 

sales contracts and approve credit, sign 

deeds, indemnities and guarantees, and 

sign other contracts and documents. The 

Policy is reviewed annually.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group recognises the importance of 

environmental issues and is committed to 

the highest levels of performance. To help 

meet this objective the Group has developed 

and is proactively implementing both 

environmental policies and a comprehensive 

environmental management system. 

These have been established to facilitate 

the systematic identifi cation of 

environmental issues and to ensure that 

they are managed in a structured manner. 

These measures allow the Group to:

• Monitor its compliance with all 

relevant legislation.

• Continually assess and improve the impact 

of its operations on the environment.

• Encourage employees to actively 

participate in the management of 

environmental issues.

• Use energy and other resources 

effi ciently.

• Encourage the adoption of similar 

standards by the Group’s principal 

suppliers, contractors and distributors.

• Ensure procedures are in place to 

appropriately deal with any adverse 

environmental event that may occur.

GROUP INFORMATION POLICY

The following is the Group’s policy 

regarding the disclosure of Group 

information:

No Director of the Group may disclose 

information which that Director has 

received in his or her capacity as a Director 

or employee of the Group, being information 

that would not otherwise be available to 

the Director, to

(a) a person whose interests that 

Director represents; or

(b) a person in accordance with whose 

directions or instructions the 

Director may be required, or is 

accustomed to act in relation to the 

Director’s powers and duties,

without the prior consent of a 

Subcommittee of the Board established to 

authorise the disclosure. 

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Where any TrustPower Director has a 

confl ict of interest or is otherwise 

interested in any transaction, that Director 

is required to disclose his or her confl ict of 

interest, and thereafter neither participate 

in the discussion nor vote in relation to the 

relevant matter. The Company maintains 

a register of disclosed interests.

INSIDER TRADING

In order to protect TrustPower’s reputation 

and safeguard employees who may want 

to buy or sell TrustPower securities, the 

Company’s Securities Trading Policy requires 

an approved procedure to be followed by 

all staff and Directors. Certain employees 

of the Company are required to make 

additional disclosures under the Securities 

Markets Act 1988.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

TrustPower has established a 

Whistleblowing Policy in order to facilitate 

the disclosure and impartial investigation 

of any serious wrongdoing. This policy 

advises employees of their right to 

disclose serious wrongdoing, and sets out 

TrustPower’s internal procedures for 

receiving and dealing with such disclosures. 

The policy is consistent with, and facilitates, 

the Protected Disclosures Act 2000.

OTHER CORPORATE POLICIES

The Group has a number of other policies 

covering but not limited to human resource 

activities, health and safety, buildings and 

security, and disaster recovery planning. 

These policies are regularly reviewed and 

approved by senior management and 

where appropriate the Board.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Group has established an outsourced 

internal audit function that is responsible 

for monitoring the Group’s system of 

internal fi nancial control and the integrity 

of the fi nancial information reported to the 

Board. Internal audit operates independently 

from the Board and reports its fi ndings 

directly to the Audit Committee. Internal 

audit liaises closely with the external 

auditors, who review the internal audit 

work undertaken to the extent necessary 

to support their audit opinion. 

THE ROLE OF SHAREHOLDERS

The Board aims to ensure that 

shareholders are informed of all major 

developments affecting the Group’s state 

of affairs. Information is communicated to 

shareholders in the annual report, interim 

reports, and various announcements to NZX. 

Quarterly operational information will also 

be provided from the fi rst quarter of the 

2009 fi nancial year. The Board encourages 

full participation of shareholders at the 

annual meeting to ensure a high level of 

accountability and identifi cation with the 

Group’s strategies and goals. 

Corporate Governance Statement
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T
he Directors are pleased to present 

the fi nancial statements of 

TrustPower Limited for the year 

ended 31 March 2008.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring 

that the fi nancial statements give a true 

and fair view of the fi nancial position of 

the Company and the Group as at 31 March 

2008 and their fi nancial performance and 

cash fl ows for the year ended on that date. 

The Directors consider that the fi nancial 

statements of the Company and the Group 

have been prepared using appropriate 

accounting policies, consistently applied 

and supported by reasonable judgements 

and estimates and that all relevant 

fi nancial reporting and accounting 

standards have been followed. 

The Directors believe that proper 

accounting records have been kept that 

enable, with reasonable accuracy, the 

determination of the fi nancial positions 

of the Company and the Group and 

facilitate compliance of the fi nancial 

statements with the Financial Reporting 

Act 1993. 

The Directors consider they have taken 

adequate steps to safeguard the assets of 

the Company and the Group to prevent 

and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Company Registration Number HN604040
Dated: 15 May 2008

Financial Statements 
2008

Directors’ Responsibilty Statement

Bruce Harker
Chairman

Geoff Swier
Director
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Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders of TrustPower Limited

We have audited the fi nancial statements on pages 33 to 61. The fi nancial statements provide information about the past fi nancial 

performance and cash fl ows of the Company and Group for the year ended 31 March 2008 and their fi nancial position as at that date. 

This information is stated in accordance with the accounting policies set out on pages 37 to 41.

Directors’ Responsibilities

The Company’s Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the fi nancial statements which give a true and fair 

view of the fi nancial position of the Company and Group as at 31 March 2008 and their fi nancial performance and cash fl ows for the 

year ended on that date.

Auditors’ Responsibilities

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the fi nancial statements presented by the Directors and reporting our 

opinion to you.

Basis of Opinion

An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. It also 

includes assessing:

(a)  the signifi cant estimates and judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of the fi nancial statements; and

(b)  whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the Company and Group, consistently applied and 

adequately disclosed.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in New Zealand. We planned and performed our 

audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary to provide us with suffi cient evidence to 

give reasonable assurance that the fi nancial statements are free from material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error. 

In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the fi nancial statements.

We have no relationship with or interests in the Company or any of its subsidiaries other than in our capacity as auditors, tax advisers 

and providers of fi nancial advisory services.

Unqualifi ed Opinion

We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required.

In our opinion:

(a) proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as appears from our examination of those records; and 

(b) the fi nancial statements on page 33 to 61:

(i) comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and

(ii)  give a true and fair view of the fi nancial position of the Company and Group as at 31 March 2008 and their fi nancial 

performance and cash fl ows for the year ended on that date.

Our audit was completed on 15 May 2008 and our unqualifi ed opinion is expressed as at that date.

Chartered Accountants
Auckland

PricewaterhouseCoopers

188 Quay Street

Private Bag 92162

Auckland, New Zealand

Telephone +64 9 356 8000

Facsimile +64 9 356 8001

www.pwc.com/nz
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Income Statements

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 NOTE $000 $000 $000 $000

Operating Revenue

Electricity sales  656,961  617,707  656,961  617,707 

Meter rental revenue  3,846  3,523  3,846  3,523 

Other customer fees and charges  3,394  3,891  3,381  3,891 

Telecommunications sales  12,670  675  12,670  675 

Other operating revenue  4,585  521  4,502  521 

 681,456  626,317  681,360  626,317 

Operating Expenses

Energy costs  179,643  160,391  179,643  160,391 

Generation production costs  27,780  20,787  27,572  20,787 

Line costs  187,947  186,552  187,947  186,552 

Market fees and costs  18,183  14,282  18,183  14,282 

Meter rental costs  2,606  2,408  2,606  2,408 

Other customer connection costs  939  1,075  939  1,075 

Other fixed and investment asset charges/(credits) 9  (408)  872  318  (5,266)

Employee benefits  24,554  20,819  24,554  20,819 

Telecommunications cost of sales  9,246  598  9,246  598 

Other operating expenses 10  22,933  22,102  35,150  28,367 

 473,423  429,886  486,158  430,013 

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation, Amortisation and Fair Value 

Movements of Financial Instruments (EBITDAF)  208,033  196,431  195,202  196,304 

Fair value (gains) / losses on financial instruments 5  (985)  (2,425)  (654)  (2,425)

Amortisation of intangible assets 23  5,145  4,227  5,145  4,227 

Depreciation 20  27,249  23,826  13,511  17,266 

Operating Profit  176,624  170,803  177,200  177,236 

Interest paid 11  41,274  28,940  45,647  33,619 

Interest received 11  (1,462)  (1,584)  (6,141)  (6,454)

Net finance costs  39,812  27,356  39,506  27,165 

Profit Before Income Tax  136,812  143,447  137,694  150,071 

Income tax expense 12  38,679  41,018  41,970  43,532 

Profit After Tax Attributable to the Shareholders of the Company  98,133  102,429  95,724  106,539 

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 7  31.1  32.5  30.4  33.8 

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 7  31.1  32.4  30.3  33.7 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements



Connecting with People34

Financial Statements 2008

Statements of Recognised Income and Expense

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 NOTE $000 $000 $000 $000

Fair value gains/(losses) [net of tax]:

- Generation assets 15  -  416,988  -  372,976 

- Cash flow hedges (including electricity price derivatives) 5  17,434  (55,339)  18,685  (52,463)

Effect of change in corporate tax rate on:

- Revaluation reserve  14,169  -  13,509  - 

- Cash flow hedge reserve  (206)  -  (206)  - 

Currency translation differences 18  595  -  -  - 

Movements in employee share option reserve 18  (21)  63  (21)  63 

Net Income Recognised Directly in Equity  31,971  361,712  31,967  320,576 

Profit for the Year  98,133  102,429  95,724  106,539 

Total Recognised Income for the Year Attributable to the Shareholders  130,104  464,141  127,691  427,115 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Balance Sheets

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

AS AT 31 MARCH 2008 NOTE $000 $000 $000 $000

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to shareholders of the Company

Share capital 14  176,055  174,658  176,055  174,658 

Revaluation reserve 15  658,575  644,420  586,200  572,698 

Retained earnings 16  411,574  404,866  373,720  369,428 

Cash flow hedge reserve 17  10,269  (6,959)  14,396  (4,083)

Other reserves 18  853  279  258  279 

Total Equity  1,257,326  1,217,264  1,150,629  1,112,980 

Represented by:

Current Assets

Cash and short term deposits  115,198  44,256  6,138  44,003 

Bond deposits on trust  2,700  3,100  2,700  3,100 

Electricity market security deposits  -  3,000  -  3,000 

Accounts receivable and prepayments 19  99,143  63,277  98,175  63,269 

Derivative financial instruments 5  3,905  53  3,905  53 

Taxation receivable  7,279  3,314  6,722  3,314 

 228,225  117,000  117,640  116,739 

Non Current Assets

Term receivable  1,719  -  1,719  - 

Property, plant and equipment 20  2,056,974  1,902,496  1,424,722  1,412,529 

Derivative financial instruments 5  21,236  3,291  20,905  3,291 

Investments in subsidiaries 22  -  -  381,712  349,969 

Other investments  518  -  -  - 

Intangible assets 23  40,266  42,549  40,266  42,549 

Deferred tax asset 27  1,819  -  -  - 

 2,122,532  1,948,336  1,869,324  1,808,338 

Total Assets  2,350,757  2,065,336  1,986,964  1,925,077 

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accruals 24  222,061  120,495  110,118  114,032 

Unsecured subordinated bonds 26  50,511  86,182  50,511  86,182 

Derivative financial instruments 5  8,207  3,183  2,311  308 

 280,779  209,860  162,940  200,522 

Non Current Liabilities

Unsecured bank loans 25  443,888  211,612  336,971  211,612 

Unsecured subordinated bonds 26  161,528  211,357  161,528  211,357 

Derivative financial instruments 5  582  8,468  582  8,468 

Deferred tax liability 27  206,654  206,775  174,314  180,138 

 812,652  638,212  673,395  611,575 

Total Liabilities  1,093,431  848,072  836,335  812,097 

Net Assets  1,257,326  1,217,264  1,150,629  1,112,980 

Net Tangible Assets Per Share  $3.86  $3.73  $3.52  $3.40 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Cash Flow Statements

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 NOTE $000 $000 $000 $000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash was provided from:

Receipts from customers  643,869  674,437  644,732  674,446 

 643,869  674,437  644,732  674,446 

Cash was applied to:

Payments to suppliers and employees  445,963  472,915  445,733  472,556 

Taxation paid  36,859  40,363  36,845  40,363 

 482,822  513,278  482,578  512,919 

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities 28  161,047  161,159  162,154  161,527 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash was provided from:

Sale of property, plant and equipment  2,967  194  2,109  194 

Return of bond deposits on trust  400  -  400  - 

Return of electricity market security deposits  15,800  37,400  15,800  37,400 

Interest received  1,462  1,584  6,141  1,584 

Sale of investments  -  360  -  360 

 20,629  39,538  24,450  39,538 

Cash was applied to:

Advances to subsidiaries  -  -  86,264  150,774 

Interest capitalised in construction of fixed assets  6,851  5,274  1,132  595 

Lodgement of bond deposits on trust  -  100  -  100 

Lodgement of electricity market security deposits  12,800  24,400  12,800  24,400 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  105,236  171,258  25,907  21,053 

Purchase of intangible assets  2,860  2,495  2,860  2,495 

 127,747  203,527  128,963  199,417 

Net Cash used in Investing Activities  (107,118)  (163,989)  (104,513)  (159,879)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash was provided from:

Bank loan proceeds  282,010  186,300  175,092  186,300 

Issue of shares  1,397  1,021  1,397  1,021 

 283,407  187,321  176,489  187,321 

Cash was applied to:

Repayment of bonds  86,182  -  86,182  - 

Repayment of bank loans  50,235  38,100  50,235  38,100 

Interest paid  38,538  27,221  44,139  31,901 

Dividends paid  91,439  78,719  91,439  78,719 

 266,394  144,040  271,995  148,720 

Net Cash Flow from /(used in) Financing Activities  17,013  43,281  (95,506)  38,601 

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash, Cash Equivalents and Bank Overdrafts  70,942  40,451  (37,865)  40,249 

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at beginning of the year  44,256  3,805  44,003  3,754 

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Bank Overdrafts at End of the Year  115,198  44,256  6,138  44,003 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2008

Note 1: General Information

REPORTING ENTITY

The principal activities of TrustPower Limited (the Company or Parent) and its subsidiaries (together the Group) are the development, ownership 

and operation of electricity generation facilities from renewable energy sources and the retail sale of electricity to its customers. All significant 

operations take place within New Zealand.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand. The address of its registered office is Truman Road, 

Te Maunga, Mount Maunganui. The Company is listed on the New Zealand Stock Exchange.

These financial statements relate to the year ended 31 March 2008 and have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 15 May 2008.

Note 2: Statement of Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these audited financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 

consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These audited financial statements have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand generally accepted accounting practice (NZGAAP). 

They comply with New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS), International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) and other applicable New Zealand Financial Reporting Standards, as appropriate for profit-oriented entities.

Entities reporting

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are for the economic entity comprising TrustPower Limited and its subsidiaries. 

The consolidated entity is designated as a profit-oriented entity for financial reporting purposes.

Statutory base

TrustPower Limited is registered under the Companies Act 1993 and is an issuer in terms of the Securities Act 1978. The financial statements 

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Reporting Act 1993 and the Companies Act 1993.

Application of NZ IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards

This is the first year the Group has prepared financial statements in accordance with NZ IFRS. NZ IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of New Zealand 

Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards has been applied in preparing these financial statements. Financial statements of the 

Group until 31 March 2007 had been prepared in accordance with previous New Zealand Financial Reporting Standards (NZ FRS). NZ FRS differ 

in certain respects from NZ IFRS. When preparing the Company and Group financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2007, the Group 

has amended certain accounting and valuation methods applied in the NZ FRS financial statements to comply with NZ IFRS. The comparative 

figures were restated to reflect these adjustments.

Reconciliations and descriptions of the effect of transition from previous NZ FRS to NZ IFRS on the Group’s and the Company’s equity and their 

net income are provided in note 35.

Historical cost convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of generation assets and 

derivative financial instruments which are stated at fair value.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with NZ IFRS requires the Group to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 

affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The areas involving a higher degree of 

judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 6.

Functional and Presentation Currency

The functional and reporting currency used in the preparation of these financial statements is New Zealand dollars, rounded to the 

nearest thousand. 

2.2 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a 

shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the 

Group and they are no longer consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured 

as the fair values of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly 

attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 

measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of the 

acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of the acquisition is 

less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are 

also eliminated but are considered as an impairment indicator of the assets transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed 

where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

2.3 SEGMENT REPORTING

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks and returns that are 

different from those of other business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within a particular 

economic environment that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other economic environments.
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2.4 TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 

provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able 

to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the assets 

carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The amount of the 

impairment loss is recognised in the income statement.

2.5 FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group classifies all of its investments as financial assets at fair value through the income statement, held to maturity financial assets or at 

cost. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its 

investments at initial recognition. 

Financial assets at fair value through the income statement

Financial assets at fair value through the income statement are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if it 

is acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are classified as held for trading unless they are designated as 

hedges. Assets in this category are classified as non-current assets where the remaining maturity of the asset is greater than 12 months; they 

are classified as current assets where the remaining maturity of the asset is less than 12 months.

Held to maturity financial assets

Held to maturity financial assets are stated at amortised cost less impairment losses.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are recorded at cost less any impairment write-downs.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are 

included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date. These are classified as non-current assets. 

Advances to New Zealand based subsidiaries are interest free while advances to overseas based subsidiaries incur interest at a market rate.

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the 

asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the income 

statement. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred 

and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value 

through profi t or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are presented in the 

income statement within fair value movements of financial instruments, in the period in which they arise. Dividend income from financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the income statement as part of other income when the Group’s right to receive payments 

is established.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in equity are included in 

the income statement as gains and losses from investment securities.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in the income statement as part of other 

income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the income statement as part of other income when the Group’s 

right to receive payments is established.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted securities), 

the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other 

instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models, making maximum use of market inputs 

and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is 

impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below 

its cost is considered as an indicator that the securities are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the 

cumulative loss (measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial 

asset previously recognised in profit or loss) is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in 

the income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement. Impairment testing of trade receivables is 

described in note 2.4.

2.6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Generation assets are shown at fair value, based on three-yearly valuations by independent external valuers, less subsequent depreciation. 

Any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is 

restated to the revalued amount of the asset. All other property is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure 

that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow 

hedges of foreign currency purchases of fixed assets.

The cost of assets constructed by the Group, including capital work in progress, includes the cost of all materials used in construction, direct 

labour specifically associated, resource management consent costs, and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads. Financing 

costs on uncompleted capital work in progress are capitalised at the specific project finance interest rate, where these meet certain time and 

monetary materiality limits. Costs cease to be capitalised as soon as the asset is ready for productive use and do not include any ineffi ciency costs.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset only when it is probable that future economic 

benefits will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any replaced item is derecognised. 

All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of generation assets are credited to the revaluation reserve in shareholders’ equity. 

Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged against the revaluation reserve directly in equity. All other decreases are 

charged to the income statement.
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Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on all other property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method at rates calculated 

to allocate each asset’s cost over its estimated useful life. Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis as follows:

Freehold buildings 2% Generation assets 0.5%-5%

Metering equipment 5% Plant and equipment 10-33%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 

recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within other fixed and 

investment asset charges/(credits), in the income statement. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in the revaluation reserve are 

transferred to retained earnings.

2.7 EMISSION RIGHTS

The Group receives tradable emission rights from specific energy production levels of certain renewable generation facilities. The future revenue 

arising from the sale of these emission rights is a key matter in deciding whether to proceed with construction of the generation facility and is 

considered to be part of the value of the generation assets recorded in the balance sheet. Proceeds received on the sale of emission rights 

are recorded as deferred income in the balance sheet until the committed energy production level pertaining to the emission right sold has 

been generated. 

Emission rights produced are recognised in the balance sheet if the right has been verified, it is probable that expected future economic benefits 

will flow to the Group, and the rights can be measured reliably. Emission rights are initially measured at cost. After initial recognition, the emission 

rights are carried at fair value with any changes taken to the income statement. Fair value is determined by reference to an active market. If the 

emission rights cannot be revalued because there is no active market, the emission rights are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated 

impairment losses. 

2.8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Customer base assets

Costs incurred in acquiring customers from other electricity supply companies and telecommunications companies are recorded as a customer 

base intangible asset. The customer bases are amortised on a straight line basis over the period of expected benefit. This period has been 

assessed as 20 years for electricity customer bases and 5 years for telecommunication customer bases. The carrying value of the customer 

bases is reviewed annually by the Directors and adjusted where it is considered necessary.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. 

These costs are amortised over three years on a straight line basis.

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs that are directly 

associated with the development of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group, and that will probably generate economic 

benefits exceeding costs for more than one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Costs include the employee costs incurred as a result of 

developing software and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. Computer software development costs recognised as assets are 

amortised over their estimated useful lives (not exceeding three years).

2.9 REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration received or receivable for the sale of electricity, telecommunications and related services in 

the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of goods and services tax, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales 

within the Group.

Customer consumption of electricity is measured and billed by calendar month for half hourly metered customers and in line with meter reading 

schedules for non-half hourly metered customers. Accordingly revenues from electricity sales include an estimated accrual for units sold but not 

billed at balance date for non-half hourly metered customers. 

Customer consumption of telecommunications services is measured and billed according to monthly billing cycles. Accordingly, revenues from 

telecommunications services provided include an estimated accrual for services provided but not billed at balance date.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

2.10 EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

Employee entitlements to salaries and wages, non monetary benefits, annual leave and other benefits are recognised when they accrue to 

employees. This includes the estimated liability for salaries and wages, annual leave and sick leave as a result of services rendered by 

employees up to balance date. 

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the 

granting of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the 

fair value of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets). 

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest. At each balance sheet date, 

the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, 

if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital when the options are exercised.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the 

Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past 

practice that has created a constructive obligation.
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Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee 

accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to 

either: terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing 

termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the balance 

sheet date are discounted to their present value.

2.11 FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment 

in which the entity operates (the functional currency). These financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars, which is the Parent’s 

functional and presentation currency.

Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are converted to New Zealand dollars at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction. 

Monetary assets and liabilities arising from foreign currency transactions are translated at closing rates at balance date. Gains or losses from 

currency translation on these items are included in the income statement.

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional 

currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

• assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at balance date

• income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates

• all resulting exchange rate differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of borrowings and 

other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign 

operation is partially disposed of or sold, such foreign exchange differences are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss 

on sale.

2.12 GENERATION DEVELOPMENT

The Group incurs costs in the exploration, evaluation, consenting and construction of generation assets. Costs incurred are expensed in the 

income statement unless such costs are highly likely to be recouped through successful development of, and generation of electricity from, a 

particular project. Where costs meet this criteria and are capitalised they will ultimately be amortised over the estimated useful life of a project 

once it is completed. The Directors review the status of capitalised development expenditure on a regular basis and in the event that a project 

is abandoned, or if the Directors consider the expenditure to be impaired, a write off or provision is made in the year in which that assessment 

is made. 

2.13 BORROWINGS

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any 

difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the term of the 

borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 

after the balance sheet date.

2.14 INSURANCE 

The Group has property, plant and equipment which is predominately concentrated at power station locations that has the potential to sustain 

major losses through damage to plant with resultant consequential costs.

To minimise the financial impact of such exposures, the major portion of the risk is insured by taking out appropriate insurance policies with 

appropriate counterparties. Any uninsured loss is recognised in the income statement at the time the loss is incurred.

2.15 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example land, are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that 

are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 

not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, 

assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Assets other than goodwill 

that suffer an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each balance date.

2.16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original 

maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the balance sheet.

2.17 CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The following are the definitions used in the cash flow statement:

• cash is considered to be cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks, net of bank overdrafts

• operating activities include all activities that are not investing or financing activities

• investing activities are those activities relating to the acquisition, holding and disposal of fixed assets and investments

• financing activities are those activities, which result in changes in the size and composition of the capital structure of the Group. This includes 

both equity and debt not falling within the definition of cash. Dividends paid in relation to the capital structure are included in financing activities.

2.18 GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST)

The income statement and cash flow statement have been prepared so that all components are stated exclusive of GST. All items in the balance 

sheet are stated exclusive of GST, with the exception of billed receivables and payables which include GST invoiced.
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2.19 INCOME TAX

The income tax expense comprises both current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it 

relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case the income tax is recognised directly in equity.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 

and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. The following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of assets 

or liabilities in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and 

differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is 

determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by balance date and are expected to apply when the 

related deferred tax liability (asset) is settled (realised).

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 

differences can be utilised.

2.20 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are periodically remeasured at their fair value. 

The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the 

nature of the item being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as one of the following:

• hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge)

• hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges)

• hedges of net investments in foreign operations.

The Group documents, at the inception of the transaction, the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk 

management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge 

inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in 

fair values or cash flows of hedged items. The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in note 5. 

Movements on the hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity are shown in the statement of recognised income and expense. The full fair value of 

a derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the derivative is more than 12 months; it is classified as 

a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the derivative is less than 12 months.

Fair Value Hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together with 

any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

Cash Flow Hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in 

shareholders’ equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. However, when 

the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset, the gains and losses previously deferred in 

shareholders’ equity are transferred from shareholders’ equity and included in the measurement of the cost of the asset.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss 

existing in shareholders’ equity at that time remains in shareholders’ equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when the 

transaction occurs. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in shareholders’ 

equity is immediately transferred to the income statement.

Net Investment Hedge

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument 

relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in shareholders’ equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 

recognised immediately in the income statement.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of these derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge 

accounting are recognised immediately in the income statement.

2.21 SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.22 TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.23 LEASES

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. 

Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line 

basis over the period of the lease.

2.24 DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in which the 

dividends are approved by the Board.

2.25 ADOPTION STATUS OF RELEVANT NEW FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

The Group has elected not to early adopt the following standards which have been issued but are not yet effective:

• NZ IAS 23 Borrowing Costs – revisions approved July 2007 and effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009; and

• NZ IFRS 8 Operating Segments – approved December 2006 and effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

The adoption of these standards is not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Note 3: Application of NZ IFRS 1

This is the first year the Group has prepared financial statements in accordance with NZ IFRS. These financial statements have been prepared 

as described in note 2.1. NZ IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards has been 

applied in preparing these financial statements. The Group’s NZ IFRS adoption date was 1 April 2006.

In preparing these financial statements in accordance with NZ IFRS 1 the Group has applied the applicable mandatory exemptions and certain 

of the optional exemptions from full retrospective application of NZ IFRS 1.

Optional exemptions applied:

(a) Business combinations exemption

 Business combinations that took place prior to the 1 April 2006 transition date have not been restated.

(b) Deemed historical cost exemption

 Net book value at 1 April 2006 has been taken to be deemed historical cost for certain generation assets. 

Mandatory exemptions applied:

(c) Hedge accounting exemption

 The Group has applied hedge accounting from 1 April 2006 only if the hedge relationship meets all the hedge accounting criteria under 

NZ IAS 39.

(d) Estimates exception

 Estimates under NZ IFRS at 1 April 2006 are consistent with estimates made for the same date under previous GAAP.

Reconciliations and descriptions of the effect of transition from previous NZ FRS to NZ IFRS on the Group’s equity and its net income are 

provided in note 35.

Note 4: Segment Information

Primary Reporting Format - Business Segments

As at 31 March 2008, the Group is organised into two main business segments:

• development, ownership and operation of electricity generation facilities from renewable energy sources (“Generation”)

• retail sale of electricity to customers (“Retail”)

As the Generation segment derives substantially all of its revenue from internal transfers, it is not a separable reporting segment. Therefore, in 

accordance with the requirements of NZ IAS 14 Segment Reporting, there is only one reportable segment being Retail.

Secondary Reporting Format - Geographical Segments

The Group’s two business segments operate predominantly in New Zealand.

Note 5: Financial Instruments

Financial Risk Management Objectives

TrustPower’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: electricity price risk, interest rate risk, exchange rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 

effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures. Risk management 

is carried out under policies approved by the Board.

Fair Value of Derivative Instruments GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Current

Interest rate derivative assets  174  -  174  - 

Electricity price derivative assets  3,731  40  3,731  40 

Exchange rate derivative assets  -  13  -  13 

 3,905  53  3,905  53 

Electricity price derivative liabilities  2,311  308  2,311  308 

Exchange rate derivative liabilities  5,896  2,875  -  - 

 8,207  3,183  2,311  308 

Non-current

Interest rate derivative assets  2,055  1,797  1,724  1,797 

Electricity price derivative assets  19,181  1,494  19,181  1,494 

 21,236  3,291  20,905  3,291 

Interest rate derivative liabilities  494  21  494  21 

Electricity price derivative liabilities  88  8,447  88  8,447 

 582  8,468  582  8,468 
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The changes in the fair value of financial instruments recognised in the income statement and the cash flow hedge reserve for the year to 

31 March 2008 are summarised below:

Recognised in the income statement GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Interest rate derivatives  (40)  2,016  (371)  2,016 

Electricity price derivatives  1,025  409  1,025  409 

 985  2,425  654  2,425 

Recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Electricity price derivatives  26,707  (61,511)  26,707  (61,511)

Exchange rate derivatives  (3,034)  (21,084)  (14)  (16,791)

 23,673  (82,595)  26,693  (78,302)

ELECTRICITY PRICE RISK

The Group is required to purchase a percentage of its electricity sold off the electricity spot market. This leaves the Group exposed to 

fluctuations in the spot price of electricity. The Group has entered into a number of electricity hedge contracts to reduce the commodity price 

risk from price fluctuations on the electricity spot market. These hedge contracts establish the price at which future specified quantities of 

electricity are purchased. Any resulting differential to be paid or received is recognised as a component of energy costs through the term of the 

contract. The Group has elected to apply cash flow hedge accounting to those instruments it deems material and which qualify as cash flow 

hedges while immaterial contracts are not hedge accounted. 

The aggregate notional volume of the outstanding electricity derivatives at 31 March 2008 was 1,116GWh (31 March 2007: 1,224GWh).

The hedged anticipated electricity purchase transactions are expected to occur continuously throughout the next four years from balance sheet 

date consistent with the Group’s forecast electricity generation and retail electricity sales. Gains and losses recognised in the cash flow hedge 

reserve on electricity derivatives as of 31 March 2008 will be continuously released to the income statement in each period in which the 

underlying purchase transactions are recognised in the income statement.

Sensitivity analysis

The following tables summarise the impact of increases/decreases of the relevant forward electricity prices on the Group’s post-tax profit for the 

year and on other components of equity. The sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that the relevant forward electricity prices had 

increased/decreased with all other variables held constant.

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Increase/(decrease) to profit of a 10% increase in electricity forward price  258  (63)  258  (63)

Increase/(decrease) to profit of a 10% decrease in electricity forward price  (258)  63  (258)  63 

Increase/(decrease) to equity of a 10% increase in electricity forward price  (9,277)  (6,610)  (9,277)  (6,610)

Increase/(decrease) to equity of a 10% decrease in electricity forward price  9,277  6,610  9,277  6,610 

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s bank borrowings are all on floating interest rates. The Group has various interest rate financial instruments to manage exposure to 

fluctuations in interest rates. Any resulting differential to be paid or received on the instruments is recognised as a component of interest paid. 

The Group has elected not to hedge account for these instruments.

The aggregate notional principal amounts of the outstanding interest rate derivative instruments at 31 March 2008 was $325,768,000 

(31 March 2007: $95,000,000).

Interest payment transactions are expected to occur at various dates between one month and three years from the balance sheet date 

consistent with the Group’s forecast total borrowings.

Effective interest rates for the Parent and the Group are disclosed in note 25.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2008, if interest rates at that date had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for 

the year would have been adjusted by the amounts in the table below, mainly as a result of the fair value change in interest rate derivative 

instruments which are not hedge accounted. There would be no effect on other components of equity.
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GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Increase/(decrease) to profit of a 100 basis point decrease in interest rates  (3,846)  (1,024)  (2,350)  (1,024)

Increase/(decrease) to profit of a 100 basis point increase in interest rates 3,872  1,055 2,428  1,055 

Increase/(decrease) to equity of a 100 basis point decrease in interest rates  -  -  -  - 

Increase/(decrease) to equity of a 100 basis point increase in interest rates  -  -  -  - 

EXCHANGE RATE RISK

The Group has entered into a number of forward exchange contracts to reduce the risk from price fluctuations of foreign currency costs 

associated with the construction of generation assets. Any resulting differential to be paid or received is recognised as a component of the cost 

of the project. The Group has elected to apply cash flow hedge accounting to these instruments. 

The aggregate notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at 31 March 2008 was $38,014,000 

(31 March 2007: $113,738,000).

The hedged anticipated transactions denominated in foreign currency are expected to occur at various dates between one month and five months 

from balance sheet date. Gains and losses recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve in equity on forward foreign exchange contracts as at 

31 March 2008 will be recognised in the cost of any asset acquired when the cash flow from the anticipated underlying transactions occurs.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2008, if the New Zealand dollar had weakened/strengthened by 10 per cent against the currencies with which the Group has 

foreign currency risk, with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would not have been materially different.

Other components of equity would have been $2,485,000/$2,033,000 higher/lower (31 March 2007: $6,406,000/$5,241,000), arising from 

foreign exchange gains/losses on revaluation of foreign exchange contracts in a cash flow hedge relationship.

CREDIT RISK

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk (2007: none). It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with 

an appropriate credit history. Where a potential customer does not have a suitable credit history a bond is required before the customer is 

accepted. Derivative counterparties and cash transactions are limited to high credit quality financial institutions and other large electricity market 

participants. The Group has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any counterparty. 

The carrying amounts of financial assets recognised in the balance sheet best represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the 

reporting date without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained. As shown in note 19, the reported accounts receivable balance 

includes a provision for doubtful debts of $1,100,000 (2007: $1,100,000).

The Group has around 222,000 customers (2007: 220,000), only four (2007: three) of which make up more than one per cent of the Group’s 

total accounts receivable balance. The largest of these customers accounts for 19 per cent (2007: 10 per cent) of the Group’s total 

accounts receivable.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group’s ability to readily attract cost effective funding is largely driven by its credit standing.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through adequate 

amount of committed credit facilities and the spreading of debt maturities.

Liquidity risk is monitored by continuously forecasting actual cash flows and matching the profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

FAIR VALUES

Except for subordinated bonds (see note 26), the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements 

approximates their fair values.

ESTIMATION OF FAIR VALUES

The fair values and net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

• The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined with 

reference to quoted market prices.

• The fair value of other financial assets and liabilities are calculated using market-quoted rates based on discounted cash flow analysis.

• The fair value of derivative financial instruments are calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices are not available, use is made of 

discounted cash flow analysis using the applicable yield curve or available forward price data for the duration of the instruments.

Where the fair value of a derivative is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows of the instrument, the two key types of 

variables used by the valuation techniques are:

• forward price curve (for the relevant underlying interest rates, foreign exchange rates or commodity prices); and

• discount rates.

The selection of variables requires significant judgement and therefore there is a range of reasonably possible assumptions in respect of these 

variables that could be used in estimating the fair value of these derivatives. Maximum use is made of observable market data when selecting 

variables and developing assumptions for the valuation techniques.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to 

provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to 

shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by 

total capital.

• Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less short term deposits. Total borrowings are calculated using a value of unsecured bank loans 

plus unsecured subordinated bonds.

• Total capital funding is calculated as total equity as shown in the balance sheet, adjusted for the fair value of fi nancial instruments, plus net debt.

The gearing ratio is calculated below:

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

NOTE $000 $000 $000 $000

Net debt

Unsecured bank debt 25  443,888  211,612  336,971  211,612 

Unsecured subordinated bonds 26  212,039  297,539  212,039  297,539 

Short term deposits  (115,198)  (44,256)  (6,138)  (44,003)

 540,729  464,895  542,872  465,148 

Equity

Total equity  1,257,326  1,217,264  1,150,629  1,112,980 

Remove net effect of fair value of financial instruments after tax  (10,269)  6,959  (14,396)  4,083 

 1,247,057  1,224,223  1,136,233  1,117,063 

Total capital funding  1,787,786  1,689,118  1,679,105  1,582,211 

Gearing ratio 30% 28% 32% 29%

Note 6: Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

Estimates and judgements are frequently evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The 

resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant 

risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVES AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, electricity price hedges) is determined by using 

valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions 

existing at each balance date. The Group has used discounted cash flow analysis for various electricity price hedges that are not traded in an 

active market.

ELECTRICITY GROSS MARGIN

Three key estimates are made when determining electricity gross margin. The accrual for all three factors is based on an estimate of unbilled units.

• Revenue recognition

 An accrual is estimated for units sold but not billed at balance date for non-half hourly metered customers. This estimate is based on units 

bought from the wholesale electricity market as well as historic factors. Significant judgement is required in making this determination.

• Line cost recognition

 Some electricity lines companies bill the Group based on the units and days that the Group has billed its customers. An accrual, similar to the 

revenue recognition accrual, is estimated for line charges incurred but not billed at balance date.

• Energy cost recognition

 An accrual is estimated for units that the Group believes it has consumed but has not yet been billed for by M-Co Limited, the Energy 

Clearing House. Significant judgement is required in making this determination.

Sensitivity analysis

If the estimated unbilled units had been 10% higher/lower, operating profit for the year would have (decreased)/increased by 

($291,000)/$332,000 (2007:increased/(decreased) by $256,000/($251,000)).

GENERATION PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group’s generation property, plant and equipment is stated at fair value as determined by an independent valuation undertaken on a three-

yearly basis. The basis of the valuation is a discounted cash flow analysis of the future earnings of the assets. The major inputs that are used in 

the valuation model that require management judgement include sales volume forecasts, projected operational and capital expenditure profiles, 

capacity and life assumptions for each generation station.

DEPRECIATION EXPENSE

A significant amount of management judgement is used when determining the useful lives of the Group’s generation assets for depreciation 

purposes. This is especially so for the Group’s longer lived assets.

Sensitivity analysis

If the estimated useful lives of generation assets was 10% higher/lower, operating profit for the year would have increased/decreased by 

$2,079,000/$2,542,000 (2007: $1,717,000/$2,098,000).
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AMORTISATION EXPENSE

Managment judgement is used when determining the useful lives of the Group’s intangible assets for amortisation purposes.

Sensitivity analysis

If the estimated useful lives of intangible assets was 10% higher/lower, operating profit for the year would have increased/decreased by 

$458,000/$560,000 (2007: $384,000/$469,000).

Changes to accounting estimates

Following a detailed engineering review the total economic lives of some classes of assets were revised as follows:

Dams and major civil works - original life 100 years, revised life 200 years

Reinforced concrete structures - original life 50 years, revised life 100 years

Major generation plant - original life 50 years, revised life 100 years

The impact of this change has been to reduce the depreciation expense by $6,883,000. This impact will continue into future years.

Note 7: Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the shareholders of the company by the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares on issue during the year. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of shares 

outstanding to assume conversion of all potential dilutive ordinary shares.

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the company ($000)  98,133  102,429  95,724  106,539 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)  315,246  314,860  315,246  314,860 

Basic earnings per share (cents per share)  31.1  32.5  30.4  33.8 

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the company ($000)  98,133  102,429  95,724  106,539 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue plus share options 

outstanding (thousands)
 315,961  315,977  315,961  315,977 

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)  31.1  32.4  30.3  33.7 

The share options outstanding referred to in the diluted earnings per share calculation relate to share options issued to certain employees.

Note 8: Discontinued Activities

There have been no discontinued activities in the year ended 31 March 2008 (2007: nil).

Note 9: Other Fixed and Investment Asset Charges/(Credits)

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Gain on sale of investments in other companies  -  (360)  -  (360)

Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment  233  1,232  (135)  1,228 

Reversal of prior period impairments for property, plant and equipment  (641)  -  (641)  - 

Provision against advances to subsidiaries  -  -  1,094  (6,134)

 (408)  872  318  (5,266)
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Note 10: Other Operating Expenses

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Audit fees and expenses  164  162  164  162 

Fees paid for other audit related services provided by the auditors*  42  31  42  31 

Fees paid for taxation advice, compliance and planning services provided by the auditors  132  148  132  148 

Bad debts written off  1,131  900  1,131  900 

Directors’ fees  456  429  456  429 

Donations  672  619  672  619 

(Gain)/loss on foreign exchange  (140)  (23)  (916)  96 

Generation development expenditure  9,428  10,297  8,562  9,570 

Other administration costs  10,836  9,329  10,958  9,642 

Rental and operating lease costs  212  210  13,949  6,770 

 22,933  22,102  35,150  28,367 

* Other services provided by the auditors include reviews of unaudited interim financial statements and assistance with cost of 

capital determination.

Note 11: Finance Income and Costs

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Amortisation of debt issue costs  1,183  976  1,183  976 

Interest paid on unsecured bank loans  25,621  6,999  24,275  6,999 

Interest paid on unsecured subordinated bonds  21,321  25,226  21,321  25,226 

Other interest costs and fees  -  1,013  -  1,013 

Interest capitalised in construction of property, plant and equipment  (6,851)  (5,274)  (1,132)  (595)

Total Interest Paid  41,274  28,940  45,647  33,619 

Interest received on cash at bank  1,462  1,584  1,375  1,584 

Interest received on intercompany advances  -  -  4,766  4,870 

Total Interest Received  1,462  1,584  6,141  6,454 

Note 12: Income Tax Expense

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Profit before income tax  136,812  143,447  137,694  150,071 

Tax on profit @ 33%  45,148  47,338  45,439  49,523 

Tax effect of permanent differences  (458)  423  (45)  752 

Tax effect of change in corporate tax rate on current year deferred tax  (1,077)  -  (254)  - 

Tax effect of change in corporate tax rate on opening deferred tax liability  (4,837)  -  (3,073)  - 

Income tax over provided in prior year  (97)  (6,743)  (97)  (6,743)

 38,679  41,018  41,970  43,532 

Represented by:

Current tax  32,895  34,547  42,499  39,419 

Deferred tax  5,784  6,471 (529)  4,113 

 38,679  41,018  41,970  43,532 
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Note 13: Dividends on Ordinary Shares

GROUP & PARENT GROUP & PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

Cents Per Share $000 $000

Dividends (forfeited)/reinstated  -  -  -  (11)

Final dividend prior year  14.0  12.0  44,130  37,770 

Interim dividend paid current year  15.0  13.0  47,309  40,960 

Supplementary dividend paid  -  -  305  3,879 

Foreign investor tax credit  -  -  (305)  (3,879)

 29.0  25.0  91,439  78,719 

Final partially imputed dividend declared subsequent to balance date payable

6 June 2008 to all shareholders on the register at 30 May 2008  15.0  14.0  47,313  44,110 

Note 14: Share Capital

GROUP & PARENT GROUP & PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

000’s of Shares $000 $000

Authorised and issued ordinary shares at beginning of year  315,075  314,752  174,658  173,504 

Issue of shares pursuant to the employee share option scheme  342  323  1,397  1,154 

 315,417  315,075  176,055  174,658 

All shares rank equally with one vote attached to each share, have no par value and are fully paid. 

Note 15: Revaluation Reserve

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at beginning of year  644,420  227,537  572,698  199,826 

Revaluation of generation assets  -  455,514  -  402,396 

Transfer (to)/from deferred tax liability  -  (38,526)  -  (29,420)

Transfer (to)/from retained earnings  (14)  (105)  (7)  (104)

Tax effect of change in corporate tax rate on deferred tax liability  14,169  -  13,509  - 

 658,575  644,420  586,200  572,698 

There are no restrictions on the distribution of this reserve to the equity holders of the Company.

Note 16: Retained Earnings

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at beginning of year  404,866  381,051  369,428  341,504 

Profit for the year  98,133  102,429  95,724  106,539 

Transfer (to)/from revaluation reserve  14  105  7  104 

Dividends on ordinary shares  (91,439)  (78,719)  (91,439)  (78,719)

 411,574  404,866  373,720  369,428 
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Note 17: Cashfl ow Hedge Reserve

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at beginning of year  (6,959)  48,380  (4,083)  48,380 

Fair value gains/(losses)  17,141  (82,278)  29,108  (77,967)

Tax on fair value gains/(losses)  (4,280)  27,151  (8,733)  25,729 

Transfers to energy cost expense  (2,382)  (8,583)  (2,382)  (8,583)

Tax on transfers to energy cost expense  715  2,832  715  2,832 

Transfers to property, plant and equipment  8,914  8,266  (33)  8,248 

Tax on transfers to property, plant and equipment  (2,674)  (2,727)  10  (2,722)

Tax effect of change in corporate tax rate on deferred tax liability  (206)  -  (206)  - 

 10,269  (6,959)  14,396  (4,083)

Note 18: Other Reserves

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Balance at beginning of year  -  -  -  - 

Currency translation differences  595  -  -  - 

 595  -  -  - 

Employee Share Option Reserve

Balance at beginning of year  279  216  279  216 

Fair value movements  (21)  63  (21)  63 

 258  279  258  279 

Total  853  279  258  279 

Note 19: Accounts Receivable and Prepayments

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Billed debtors and unbilled sales  62,672  49,652  62,672  49,652 

Provision for doubtful debts  (1,100)  (1,100)  (1,100)  (1,100)

Electricity market receivables  32,662  11,695  32,662  11,695 

Other receivables  3,572  1,923  2,652  1,915 

Prepayments  1,337  1,107  1,289  1,107 

 99,143  63,277  98,175  63,269 
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Note 20: Property, Plant and Equipment

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Generation Assets

Balance at beginning of year

Fair value  1,641,000  1,174,100  1,352,000  975,900 

Cost  -  66,971  -  10,241 

Capital work in progress  213,145  18,367  14,042  3,850 

Accumulated depreciation  -  (39,646)  -  (26,614)

 1,854,145  1,219,792  1,366,042  963,377 

Additions at cost  175,675  199,428  19,345  14,296 

Depreciation  (23,002)  (20,042)  (9,265)  (13,482)

Disposals at net book value  (1,226)  (1,247)  -  (1,244)

Revaluations/transfers  1,454  456,214  40  403,095 

Balance at end of year

Fair value  1,639,774  1,641,000  1,352,000  1,352,000 

Cost  206,795  -  772  - 

Capital work in progress  183,479  213,145  32,655  14,042 

Accumulated depreciation  (23,002)  -  (9,265)  - 

 2,007,046  1,854,145  1,376,162  1,366,042 

Metering Equipment

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  57,009  53,850  57,009  53,850 

Accumulated depreciation  (28,246)  (25,999)  (28,246)  (25,999)

 28,763  27,851  28,763  27,851 

Additions at cost  3,812  3,159  3,812  3,159 

Depreciation  (2,411)  (2,247)  (2,411)  (2,247)

Disposals at net book value  -  -  -  - 

Transfers  -  -  -  - 

Balance at end of year

Cost  60,820  57,009  60,820  57,009 

Accumulated depreciation  (30,656)  (28,246)  (30,656)  (28,246)

 30,164  28,763  30,164  28,763 

Other Freehold Buildings

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  10,581  9,711  9,985  9,711 

Accumulated depreciation  (2,507)  (2,317)  (2,507)  (2,317)

 8,074  7,394  7,478  7,394 

Additions at cost  143  870  143  274 

Depreciation  (195)  (190)  (195)  (190)

Disposals at net book value  (133)  -  (133)  - 

Transfers  12  -  -  - 

Balance at end of year

Cost  10,582  10,581  9,986  9,985 

Accumulated depreciation  (2,681)  (2,507)  (2,693)  (2,507)

 7,901  8,074  7,293  7,478 
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GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Other Freehold Land

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  6,847  1,070  5,591  1,070 

Additions at cost  2,469  5,592  2,469  4,426 

Disposals at net book value  (1,719)  -  (1,719)  - 

Transfers  -  185  -  95 

Balance at end of year

Cost  7,597  6,847  6,341  5,591 

Other Plant and Equipment

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  14,315  13,487  11,213  9,941 

Accumulated depreciation  (9,648)  (9,091)  (6,558)  (5,546)

 4,667  4,396  4,655  4,395 

Additions at cost  515  3,005  1,861  3,004 

Depreciation  (1,641)  (1,347)  (1,640)  (1,347)

Disposals at net book value  (164)  (474)  (164)  (178)

Transfers  889  (913)  50  (1,219)

Balance at end of year

Cost  13,270  14,315  13,270  11,213 

Accumulated depreciation  (9,004)  (9,648)  (8,508)  (6,558)

 4,266  4,667  4,762  4,655 

Total

Balance at beginning of year

Fair value  1,641,000  1,174,100  1,352,000  975,900 

Cost  88,752  145,089  83,798  84,813 

Capital work in progress  213,145  18,367  14,042  3,850 

Accumulated depreciation  (40,401)  (77,053)  (37,311)  (60,476)

 1,902,496  1,260,503  1,412,529  1,004,087 

Additions at cost  182,614  212,054  27,630  25,159 

Depreciation  (27,249)  (23,826)  (13,511)  (17,266)

Disposals at net book value  (3,242)  (1,721)  (2,016)  (1,422)

Revaluations/transfers  2,355  455,486  90  401,971 

Balance at end of year

Fair value  1,639,774  1,641,000  1,352,000  1,352,000 

Cost  299,064  88,752  91,189  83,798 

Capital work in progress  183,479  213,145  32,655  14,042 

Accumulated depreciation  (65,343)  (40,401)  (51,122)  (37,311)

 2,056,974  1,902,496  1,424,722  1,412,529 
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If generation assets were stated on an historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows:

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Generation assets (at cost)  1,086,526  896,994  694,556  691,099 

Generation assets under construction (at cost)  183,479  213,145  32,655  14,042 

Generation assets accumulated depreciation  (134,383)  (110,631)  (94,886)  (84,450)

 1,135,622  999,508  632,325  620,691 

Generation assets include freehold land and buildings which are not separately identifiable from other generation assets. Generation assets were 

independently revalued, using a discounted cash flow methodology, as at 31 March 2007 to their estimated market value as determined by 

Deloitte Corporate Finance.

Note 21: Commitments

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Capital Commitments  47,191  204,445  -  9,231 

The Group is awaiting commissioning of the Deep Stream hydro development and progressing with construction of a wind farm near Snowtown 

in South Australia. Contractual agreements for the supply of the significant components of these developments have been entered into and the 

total cost of the projects is expected to be $234,241,000. At balance date $85,160,000 has been spent on the developments. A further 

$108,917,000 has been accrued for work completed but not paid for at balance date.

Electricity Purchase Commitments

The Parent has a long term contract with Mighty River Power Limited to purchase the output from the Rotokawa geothermal power station until 

31 March 2013. This commitment cannot be quantified.

The Parent has a contract with Pioneer Generation Limited to purchase all of the output from its various generation sites. This commitment 

cannot be quantified.

Note 22: Investments in Subsidiaries

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Shares at cost  -  -  64,719  65,577 

Net advances to subsidiaries  -  -  328,080  294,385 

Provision against advances to subsidiaries  -  -  (11,087)  (9,993)

 -  -  381,712  349,969 

 

Significant subsidiaries (31 March balance dates)

Country of 

incorporation  % owned  Principal activity 

Cobb Power Limited New Zealand  100  Asset holding 

Pulse Business Solutions Limited New Zealand  100  Call services operator 

Sellicks Hill Wind Farm Pty Ltd Australia  100  Generation development 

Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd Australia  100  Electricity generation 

Tararua Wind Power Limited New Zealand  100  Asset holding 

TrustPower Australia Holdings Pty Ltd Australia  100  Generation development 

TrustPower Australia (New Zealand) Limited New Zealand  100  Asset holding 

TrustPower Insurance Limited New Zealand  100  Insurance 

TrustPower Australia Financing Partnership Australia  100  Financing 
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Note 23: Intangible Assets

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Customer Base Assets

Balance at beginning of year  39,682  39,022  39,682  39,022 

Additions at cost  -  3,723  -  3,723 

Amortisation  (3,808)  (3,063)  (3,808)  (3,063)

Disposals at net book value  -  -  -  - 

Balance at end of year  35,874  39,682  35,874  39,682 

Computer Software

Balance at beginning of year  2,867  2,466  2,867  2,466 

Additions at cost  2,866  1,567  2,866  1,567 

Amortisation  (1,337)  (1,164)  (1,337)  (1,164)

Disposals at net book value  (42)  (2)  (42)  (2)

Transfers  38  -  38  - 

Balance at end of year  4,392  2,867  4,392  2,867 

Total

Balance at beginning of year  42,549  41,488  42,549  41,488 

Additions at cost  2,866  5,290  2,866  5,290 

Amortisation  (5,145)  (4,227)  (5,145)  (4,227)

Disposals at net book value  (42)  (2)  (42)  (2)

Transfers  38  -  38  - 

Balance at end of year  40,266  42,549  40,266  42,549 

Note 24: Accounts Payable and Accruals

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Capital expenditure accruals  108,917  36,793  6,164  36,793 

Customer bond deposits  2,596  2,960  2,596  2,960 

Electricity market payables  59,644  27,349  59,644  27,349 

Line cost accrual  1,767  2,528  1,767  2,528 

Employee entitlements  4,190  3,873  4,190  3,873 

Interest accruals  4,747  3,194  3,519  3,194 

Net GST payable  2,104  1,616  1,956  1,564 

Other accounts payable and accruals  9,502  10,012  1,688  3,601 

Trade accounts payable  28,594  32,170  28,594  32,170 

 222,061  120,495  110,118  114,032 
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Note 25: Unsecured Bank Loans

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

New Zealand dollar facilities

Repayment terms:

One to two years  100,000  100,000  100,000  100,000 

Two to five years  133,000  76,700  133,000  76,700 

Over five years  106,948  38,317  106,948  38,317 

Facility establishment costs  (2,977)  (3,405)  (2,977)  (3,405)

 336,971  211,612  336,971  211,612 

Weighted average interest:

One to two years 8.7% 7.8% 8.7% 7.8%

Two to five years 8.8% 7.8% 8.8% 7.8%

Over five years 9.2% 8.1% 9.2% 8.1%

8.9% 7.8% 8.9% 7.8%

Australian dollar facilities

Repayment terms:

One to two years  -  -  -  - 

Two to five years  106,917  -  -  - 

Over five years  -  -  -  - 

Facility establishment costs  -  -  -  - 

 106,917  -  -  - 

Weighted average interest:

One to two years  -  -  -  - 

Two to five years 7.8%  -  -  - 

Over five years  -  -  -  - 

7.8%  -  -  - 

The Group has the following loan facilities with interest priced at between call and 180 day rates:

(i) $100,000,000 revolving loan expiring in one to two years

(ii) $125,000,000 revolving loan expiring in two to five years

(iii) $125,000,000 revolving loan expiring in over five years

(iv) $106,948,000 table loan maturing in thirteen years

(v) AUD 160,000,000 revolving loan expiring in two to five years

All of the Group’s borrowings are unsecured. The Group borrows under a negative pledge arrangement with its bank loan providers, which with 

limited exceptions does not permit the Group to grant any security interest over its assets. The negative pledge deed requires the Group to 

maintain certain levels of shareholders’ funds and operate within defined performance and debt gearing ratios. The banking arrangements may 

also create restrictions over the sale or disposal of certain assets unless the bank loans are repaid or renegotiated, specifically:

• Facilities (i) to (iii) and (v) require a continuation of the existing business operations. There are no costs to cancel the facilities. 

• Facility (iv) requires continued ownership by the Group of at least 30% in relation to Tararua Stage III wind generation assets with a book value 

of $162,737,000. There are no costs to cancel the facility. 

Subsequent to balance date the Group has negotiated a further $100,000,000 of bank facilities expiring in two to five years.

A subsidiary company has entered into a fully defeased cross border lease in relation to generation assets with a book value of $65,500,000. 

The lease liability is not recognised in these financial statements as all obligations have been prepaid to the respective lessors. This creates 

restrictions on the disposal of the asset unless the subsidiary company holding the assets is part of the disposal. The lease expires in January 

2018 and is subject to a potential termination payment, up to a maximum value of $5,415,000, in the event that the subsidiary wishes to 

terminate the lease.
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Note 26: Unsecured Subordinated Bonds

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Repayment terms and interest:

Maturing in September 2007, 8.3% p.a. fixed coupon rate  -  86,182  -  86,182 

Maturing in December 2008, 8.3% p.a. fixed coupon rate  50,511  50,511  50,511  50,511 

Maturing in September 2012, 8.5% p.a. fixed coupon rate  108,592  108,592  108,592  108,592 

Maturing in March 2014, 8.5% p.a. fixed coupon rate  54,713  54,713  54,713  54,713 

Bond issue costs  (1,777)  (2,459)  (1,777)  (2,459)

 212,039  297,539  212,039  297,539 

Current portion  50,511  86,182  50,511  86,182 

Non current portion  161,528  211,357  161,528  211,357 

 212,039  297,539  212,039  297,539 

At maturity the bonds can be converted at the option of the Company to ordinary shares based on the market price of ordinary shares at the time. 

At 31 March 2008 the bonds had a fair value of $198,523,000 (31 March 2007: $299,175,000).

Note 27: Deferred Income Tax

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at beginning of year  206,775  185,422  180,138  173,533 

Current year changes in temporary differences affecting tax expense  10,621  6,471  2,544  4,113 

Current year changes in temporary differences affecting reserves  6,239  14,882  8,008  2,492 

Effect of announced change in corporate tax rate on:

Income tax expense  (4,837)  -  (3,073)  - 

Revaluation reserve  (14,169)  -  (13,509)  - 

Cash flow hedge reserve  206  -  206  - 

 204,835  206,775  174,314  180,138 

Deferred tax liabilities consist of temporary differences on:

Revaluations  140,860  154,946  134,371  147,808 

Other property, plant and equipment movements  50,010  42,384  24,159  22,885 

Employee benefits  (1,126)  (1,272)  (1,126)  (1,272)

Provisions  (343)  (496)  (343)  (496)

Customer base assets  10,762  13,095  10,762  13,095 

Financial instruments  6,575  (1,791)  6,575  (1,791)

Other  (84)  (91)  (84)  (91)

 206,654  206,775  174,314  180,138 

Deferred tax assets consist of temporary differences on:

Revaluations  -  -  -  - 

Other property, plant and equipment movements  (808)  -  -  - 

Financial instruments  1,670  -  -  - 

Tax losses unlikely to be utilised within one year  957  -  -  - 

 1,819  -  -  - 

Net deferred tax liability  204,835  206,775  174,314  180,138 

The deferred tax asset relating to temporary differences and tax losses in Australia 

not recognised in the financial statements due to lack of probability over the
recoverability of the asset is:  2,543  4,375  -  - 
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Note 28: Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities with Profi t After Tax Attributable to the Shareholders

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Profit after tax attributable to the shareholders of the Company  98,133  102,429  95,724  106,539 

Items classified as investing/financing

Interest paid  38,538  27,221  44,139  31,901 

Interest received  (1,462)  (1,584)  (6,141)  (1,584)

 37,076  25,637  37,998  30,317 

Non cash items:

Amortisation of debt issue costs  1,183  976  1,183  976 

Amortisation of intangible assets  5,145  4,227  5,145  4,227 

Depreciation  27,249  23,826  13,511  17,266 

Other fixed and investment asset charges/(credits)  (408)  872  318  (5,266)

Share option provision transfer  (21)  63  (21)  63 

Movement in derivative financial instruments taken to the Income Statement  (985)  (2,425)  (654)  (2,425)

Intercompany charges  -  -  22,797  9,849 

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability excluding transfers to reserves  5,783  6,471  (529)  4,113 

 37,946  34,010  41,750  28,803 

Decrease/(increase) in working capital:

Accounts receivable and prepayments excluding derivative financial instruments  (37,585)  48,120  (36,625)  48,128 

Taxation payable/receivable  (3,965)  (6,783)  (3,408)  (6,783)

Accounts payable and accruals excluding capital expenditure accruals and 

derivative financial instruments  29,442  (42,254)  26,715  (45,477)

 (12,108)  (917)  (13,318)  (4,132)

Net cash flow from operating activities  161,047  161,159  162,154  161,527 

Note 29: Imputation Credit Account

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at beginning of year  10,704  9,207  10,704  9,207 

Tax paid  36,161  36,401  36,161  36,401 

Allocated to dividends  (44,680)  (34,899)  (44,680)  (34,899)

Other movements  19  (5)  19  (5)

Balance at end of year  2,204  10,704  2,204  10,704 

Note 30: Emission Rights

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

Verified Voluntary Emission Reductions (Tonnes CO
2-e 

)

Balance at beginning of year  213,000  -  213,000  - 

Rights verified during the year  202,000  223,000  202,000  223,000 

Rights sold during the year  (55,000)  (10,000)  (55,000)  (10,000)

Rights unsold at end of year  360,000  213,000  360,000  213,000 

The Verified Voluntary Emission Reductions above relate to completed generation production for the period 1 January 2004 to 31 December 2007. 
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Kyoto Carbon Credits

The Group has received 1,476,000 (2007:1,476,000) tonnes of carbon emission rights from the New Zealand Government in relation to 

completed or under construction generation facilities. This represents the maximum rights based upon specified levels of generation output from 

the new facilities for the period 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2012 and is reliant on the ongoing support of the Kyoto protocol and emission 

rights within the international community. The Group believes that it will be able to utilise 1,310,000 tonnes of these carbon emission rights. 

This potential revenue source is taken into consideration in the evaluation of generation development projects and in the valuation of the 

generation assets. 

A contract has been signed with Electrabel, a European energy company, for the sale of 228,000 tonnes of carbon emission rights over five 

years from 2008-2012. This sale is dependent on the Group’s Tararua Wind Farm Stage II producing a minimum level of output. A contract has 

been signed with The Kansai Electric Power Company, a Japanese energy company, for the sale of 300,000 tonnes of carbon emission rights 

over five years from 2008-2012. This sale is dependent on the Group’s Tararua Wind Farm Stage III producing a minimum level of output.

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

Kyoto Carbon Credits (Tonnes CO
2-e 

)

Rights earned during the year  55,000  -  55,000  - 

Rights sold during the year  (55,000)  -  (55,000)  - 

Rights unsold at end of year  -  -  -  - 

Note 31: Contingent Liabilities, Operating Leases, and Subsequent Events

The Group is not aware of any material contingent liabilities at balance date (2007: nil). 

The Group is not party to any material operating leases at balance date (2007: nil). 

The Group is not aware of any significant events occurring subsequent to balance date that have not been disclosed. 

Note 32: Related Party Transactions

The Group is controlled by Infratil Limited (incorporated in New Zealand) which owns 50.5% of the Company’s shares. The Tauranga Energy 

Consumer Trust owns 33.0% and the residual 16.5% are widely held.

A related entity of H.R.L. Morrison & Co Limited manages Infratil Limited and Mr HRL Morrison, a Director of TrustPower Limited, is the 

Chief Executive of H.R.L. Morrison & Co Limited and a Director of Infratil Limited. Infratil Limited is a significant shareholder in TrustPower 

Limited and $53,000 (2007: $94,000) was paid to H.R.L. Morrison & Co Limited and related entities during the year for consultancy services. 

As at 31 March 2008 $1,000 of this amount was outstanding (2007: $10,000). 

Mr JG Schultz is a Director of the TrustPower Australian subsidiary companies and is a Partner in the Adelaide based law firm of Finlaysons. 

$178,000 (2006: $138,000) was paid to Finlaysons during the year for legal services. As at 31 March 2008 none of this amount was outstanding 

(2007: nil). 

The key management personnel compensations (including Directors’ fees) are as follows:

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits  3,674  2,858  3,674  2,858 

Share based payments  79  119  79  119 

 3,753  2,977  3,753  2,977 

All key management personnel participate in a cash settled, share based incentive scheme. This scheme was introduced in 2007 and replaces 

the employee share option scheme.

Advances have been made to/from subsidiaries (refer to note 22) and are payable on demand. Advances to New Zealand based subsidiaries are 

interest free while interest is charged to overseas based subsidiaries at a market rate.

The impact of transactions with subsidiaries on the profit of the Parent and Group is shown below.

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Operating lease costs  -  -  (13,949)  (6,770)

Interest revenue  -  -  4,766  4,870 

Impact on profit before income tax  -  -  (9,183)  (1,900)

Except as noted above, no transactions took place with related parties during the year. All transactions with related parties take place on an 

arms length basis. No related party debts were forgiven or written off during the year. 
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Note 33: Employee Share Option Scheme

The Company has issued share options to certain employees. Each option issued under the Scheme converts to one ordinary share on exercise 

when employees are required to pay a non-refundable amount for the issue of the ordinary share (the exercise price). The options may be 

exercised any time after three years from issue date up until expiry, are non-transferable and conditional on the individual employee’s continued 

employment through this period. The exercise price is adjusted by an equity rate of return, dividends paid and capital structure changes from 

issue date up until the point at which the employee exercises the option. 

NUMBER EXERCISE PRICE $

2008 2007 2008 2007

Options Outstanding:

Tranch A issued November 2003, expiring February 2009  -  197,000  -  3.12 

Tranch B issued May 2004, expiring August 2010  -  60,000  -  4.62 

Tranch C issued November 2004, expiring February 2010  335,000  440,000  5.94  5.59 

Tranch D issued May 2006, expiring June 2012  380,000  420,000  7.48  6.98 

 715,000  1,117,000 

Options Exercised to Date:

Tranch A  520,000  323,000  3.04  3.16 

Tranch B  60,000  -  4.85  - 

Tranch C  85,000  -  5.94  - 

Tranch D  -  -  -  - 

 665,000  323,000 

Options Lapsed to Date:

Tranch A  60,000  60,000 

Tranch B  -  - 

Tranch C  100,000  80,000 

Tranch D  80,000  40,000 

 240,000  180,000 

The Company is required to fair value options at the point of issue and to expense this value over the period from issue date to first exercise 

date. $98,000 (2007: $197,000) has been recognised as an expense in the income statements resulting from the allocation of the determined 

cost of all tranches of options for the year. 

Note 34: Business Combinations

There were no acquisitions in the year ended 31 March 2008.

On 30 March 2007 the Company purchased the assets and liabilities of a telecommunication service provider and call centre operator, for a 

cash consideration of $3,747,000. There were no material operating results for this acquisition affecting the income statements for that year. 

The assets and liabilities of the acquisition at the purchase date were as follows:

GROUP PARENT

2008 2007 2008 2007

$000 $000 $000 $000

Assets and Liabilities Acquired:

Accounts receivable and prepayments  -  1,141  -  1,141 

Fixed assets  -  256  -  256 

Intangible customer base assets  -  3,723  -  3,723 

Accounts payable and accruals  -  (144)  -  (144)

Deferred tax liability  -  (1,229)  -  (1,229)

Net assets acquired  -  3,747  -  3,747 

There was no goodwill purchased in this transaction.
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Note 35: Explanation of Transition to New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards

As described in Note 2.1, this is the fi rst year fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with NZ IFRS. The accounting policies set out in 

Note 2 have been applied in preparing the fi nancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008, the comparative information presented in these 

fi nancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2007 and in the preparation of the opening NZ IFRS balance sheet at 1 April 2006 (the Group’s date 

of transition). In preparing its opening NZ IFRS balance sheet, comparative information for the year ended 31 March 2007, the Group has adjusted 

amounts reported previously in accordance with New Zealand Financial Reporting Standards (NZ FRS). An explanation of how the transition from NZ 

FRS has affected the Company’s and the Group’s equity and income statement is set out in the following tables and notes that accompany the tables.

GROUP

PREVIOUS EFFECT OF DIFFERENCES DETAILED BELOW

BALANCE SHEET AT THE DATE OF TRANSITION NZ FRS A B C D E NZ IFRS

TO NZ IFRS: 1 APRIL 2006 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Equity

Share capital  173,504  -  -  -  -  -  173,504 

Revaluation reserve  475,541  (248,004)  -  -  -  -  227,537 

Retained earnings  247,423  133,455  (527)  700  -  -  381,051 

Cash flow hedge reserve  -  (22,593)  70,973  -  -  -  48,380 

Other reserves  -  -  -  -  -  216  216 

Total Equity Attributable to Shareholders of the Parent  896,468  (137,142)  70,446  700  -  216  830,688 

Assets

Accounts receivable and prepayments  110,697  -  -  700  -  -  111,397 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  70,686  -  -  -  70,686 

Property, plant and equipment  1,262,910  59  -  -  (2,466)  -  1,260,503 

Intangible assets  39,022  -  -  -  2,466  -  41,488 

Other assets  22,835  (59)  -  -  -  -  22,776 

Total Assets  1,435,464  -  70,686  700  -  -  1,506,850 

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  240  -  -  -  240 

Deferred tax liability  48,280  137,142  -  -  -  -  185,422 

Other liabilities  490,716  -  -  -  -  (216)  490,500 

Total Liabilities  538,996  137,142  240  -  -  (216)  676,162 

Net Assets  896,468  (137,142)  70,446  700  -  216  830,688 

BALANCE SHEET AT THE END OF THE PREVIOUS EFFECT OF DIFFERENCES DETAILED BELOW

LAST REPORTING PERIOD UNDER NZ FRS A B C D E NZ IFRS

PREVIOUS NZ FRS: 31 MARCH 2007 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Equity

Share capital  174,658  -  -  -  -  -  174,658 

Revaluation reserve  930,950  (286,530)  -  -  -  -  644,420 

Retained earnings  266,179  137,326  661  700  -  -  404,866 

Cash flow hedge reserve  -  2,009  (8,968)  -  -  -  (6,959)

Other reserves  -  -  -  -  -  279  279 

Total Equity Attributable to Shareholders of the Parent  1,371,787  (147,195)  (8,307)  700  -  279  1,217,264 

Assets

Accounts receivable and prepayments  62,577  -  -  700  -  -  63,277 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  3,344  -  -  -  3,344 

Property, plant and equipment  1,905,363  -  -  -  (2,867)  -  1,902,496 

Intangible assets  38,453  1,229  -  -  2,867  -  42,549 

Other assets  53,670  -  -  -  -  -  53,670 

Total Assets  2,060,063  1,229  3,344  700  -  -  2,065,336 

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  11,651  -  -  -  11,651 

Deferred tax liability  58,352  148,423  -  -  -  -  206,775 

Other liabilities  629,924  1  -  -  -  (279)  629,646 

Total Liabilities  688,276  148,424  11,651  -  -  (279)  848,072 

Net Assets  1,371,787  (147,195)  (8,307)  700  -  279  1,217,264 
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PREVIOUS EFFECT OF DIFFERENCES DETAILED BELOW

INCOME STATEMENT RECONCILIATION NZ FRS A B C D E NZ IFRS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2007 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

EBITDAF  196,431  -  -  -  -  -  196,431 

(Gain)/Loss on movement of financial instruments  -  -  (2,425)  -  -  -  (2,425)

Amortisation of intangible assets  3,063  -  -  -  1,164  -  4,227 

Depreciation  24,990  -  -  -  (1,164)  -  23,826 

Operating Profit  168,378  -  2,425  -  -  -  170,803 

Net finance costs  27,356  -  -  -  -  -  27,356 

Profit Before Income Tax  141,022  -  2,425  -  -  -  143,447 

Income tax expense  43,652  (1,834)  (800)  -  -  -  41,018 

Profit After Tax Attributable to the Shareholders  97,370  1,834  3,225  -  -  -  102,429 

PARENT

PREVIOUS EFFECT OF DIFFERENCES DETAILED BELOW

BALANCE SHEET AT THE DATE OF TRANSITION NZ FRS A B C D E NZ IFRS

TO NZ IFRS: 1 APRIL 2006 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Equity

Share capital  173,504  -  -  -  -  -  173,504 

Revaluation reserve  412,626  (212,800)  -  -  -  -  199,826 

Retained earnings  244,185  97,146  (527)  700  -  -  341,504 

Cash flow hedge reserve  -  (22,593)  70,973  -  -  -  48,380 

Other reserves  -  -  -  -  -  216  216 

Total Equity Attributable to Shareholders of the Parent  830,315  (138,247)  70,446  700  -  216  763,430 

Assets

Accounts receivable and prepayments  110,697  -  -  700  -  -  111,397 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  70,686  -  -  -  70,686 

Property, plant and equipment  1,006,494  59  -  -  (2,466)  -  1,004,087 

Intangible assets  39,022  -  -  -  2,466  -  41,488 

Other assets  193,581  (59)  -  -  -  -  193,522 

Total Assets  1,349,794  -  70,686  700  -  -  1,421,180 

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  240  -  -  -  240 

Deferred tax liability  35,286  138,247  -  -  -  -  173,533 

Other liabilities  484,193  -  -  -  -  (216)  483,977 

Total Liabilities  519,479  138,247  240  -  -  (216)  657,750 

Net Assets  830,315  (138,247)  70,446  700  -  216  763,430 
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BALANCE SHEET AT THE END OF THE PREVIOUS EFFECT OF DIFFERENCES DETAILED BELOW

LAST REPORTING PERIOD UNDER NZ FRS A B C D E NZ IFRS

PREVIOUS NZ FRS: 31 MARCH 2007 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Equity

Share capital  174,658  -  -  -  -  -  174,658 

Revaluation reserve  814,918  (242,220)  -  -  -  -  572,698 

Retained earnings  268,312  98,969  1,447  700  -  -  369,428 

Cash flow hedge reserve  -  2,796  (6,879)  -  -  -  (4,083)

Other reserves  -  -  -  -  -  279  279 

Total Equity Attributable to Shareholders of the Parent  1,257,888  (140,455)  (5,432)  700  -  279  1,112,980 

Assets

Accounts receivable and prepayments  62,569  -  -  700  -  -  63,269 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  3,344  -  -  -  3,344 

Property, plant and equipment  1,415,396  -  -  -  (2,867)  -  1,412,529 

Intangible assets  38,453  1,229  -  -  2,867  -  42,549 

Other assets  403,386  -  -  -  -  -  403,386 

Total Assets  1,919,804  1,229  3,344  700  -  -  1,925,077 

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  8,776  -  -  -  8,776 

Deferred tax liability  38,454  141,684  -  -  -  -  180,138 

Other liabilities  623,462  -  -  -  -  (279)  623,183 

Total Liabilities  661,916  141,684  8,776  -  -  (279)  812,097 

Net Assets  1,257,888  (140,455)  (5,432)  700  -  279  1,112,980 

PREVIOUS EFFECT OF DIFFERENCES DETAILED BELOW

INCOME STATEMENT RECONCILIATION FOR NZ FRS A B C D E NZ IFRS

THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2007 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

EBITDAF  196,304  -  -  -  -  -  196,304 

(Gain)/Loss on movement of financial instruments  -  -  (2,425)  -  -  -  (2,425)

Amortisation of intangible assets  3,063  -  -  -  1,164  -  4,227 

Depreciation  18,430  -  -  -  (1,164)  -  17,266 

Operating Profit  174,811  -  2,425  -  -  -  177,236 

Net finance costs  27,165  -  -  -  -  -  27,165 

Profit Before Income Tax  147,646  -  2,425  -  -  -  150,071 

Income tax expense  44,904  (572)  (800)  -  -  -  43,532 

Profit After Tax Attributable to the Shareholders  102,742  572  3,225  -  -  -  106,539 

A Deferred Tax Liability

Under NZ IFRS TrustPower is required to recognise a deferred tax liability in respect of all differences between the Group book values and the 

taxation authority book values with the exception of differences in relation to non depreciating assets. This “balance sheet” approach effectively 

creates an additional deferred tax liability on the revaluation amounts and other historic base differences of the generation assets. NZ FRS used 

a “profit and loss account” approach to deferred tax recognition where a partial recognition of these differences is made through assessing 

historic timing differences that have occurred. 

B Derivative Financial Instruments

Under NZ IFRS derivative financial instrument contracts need to be valued and recognised “on balance sheet”. Resulting movements in the fair 

value of the financial instruments will be reported in the income statements each reporting period unless the Group can prove that a financial 

instrument qualifies for hedge accounting where it will be recorded as a movement in equity in the case of a cash flow hedge. NZ FRS allowed 

for note disclosure of quantities and values of financial instruments rather than recognition on the face of the primary financial statements. 

As the financial instrument contracts of the Group are transacted to protect the Group’s risk position and not for speculative purposes, the 

majority of instruments qualify for hedge accounting.  

C Provision for impairment of receivables

Under NZ IFRS provisions may only be recognised where it can be proved that an actual loss event has occurred. The effect of this is a reduction 

in the provision for impairment of receivables recognised under NZ IFRS compared with that recognised under NZ FRS.

D Intangible Assets

Under NZ IFRS computer software is considered an intangible asset, where as previously it was considered part of property, plant and equipment 

under NZ FRS. Consequently, depreciation relating to computer software is now considered to be amortisation and computer software is included 

in intangible assets.

E Share Option Reserve

Under NZ IFRS the fair value of share options granted to staff is recognised in equity. Under NZ FRS the fair value was recognised as a liability.



Connecting with People62

Statutory Information

INTERESTS REGISTER

The Company is required to maintain an Interests Register in which particulars of certain transactions and matters involving the Directors must 

be recorded.

The matters set out below were recorded in the Interests Register of the Company during the financial year.

GENERAL NOTICE OF INTEREST BY DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company have declared interests in the following identified entities.

Director Interest Entity

Bruce James Harker Director TrustPower Metering Limited

Director Te Maunga Power Limited

Director Morrison Capital Limited

Director Energy Developments Limited

Director Victoria Electricity Pty Ltd

Director Infratil Energy Australia Pty Ltd

Ronald Powell Carter Director Rugby New Zealand 2011 Limited

Director Rural Equities Limited 

Director Rural Equities Trust Management Limited

Chairman Committee for Auckland

Michael James Cooney Trustee Tauranga Energy Consumer Trust

Director TECT Holdings Limited

Partner Cooney Lees & Morgan

Director TrustPower Australia (New Zealand) Limited

Director TrustPower Insurance Limited

Director Tararua Wind Power Limited

Director Cobb Power Limited

Ian Samuel Knowles Chief Executive Kiwibank Limited

Director Banking Ombudsman Commission Limited

Director Kiwi Insurance Limited

Director The New Zealand Home Loan Company Limited

Director Kiwibank Nominees Limited

Director New Zealand Home Lending Limited

Director AMP Home Loans Limited

Director St James Theatre Limited

Trustee Te Omanga Hospice

Hugh Richmond Lloyd Morrison Director Auckland International Airport Limited

Director Infratil Limited and certain Infratil Limited Subsidiaries

Chairman H.R.L. Morrison & Co Group Limited and its Subsidiaries

Geoffrey Jon Campbell Swier Associate Farrier Swier Consulting Pty Ltd

Member Australian Energy Regulator

Associate Member Australian Competition and Consumer Commission

INFORMATION USED BY DIRECTORS

During the financial year there were no notices from Directors of the Company requesting to disclose or use Company information received in 

their capacity as Directors which would not otherwise have been available to them.
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DIRECTORS HOLDING OFFICE AND THEIR REMUNERATION

The Directors holding office as at 31 March 2008 and during the year to 31 March 2008 are listed below. The total amount of the remuneration 

and other benefi ts received by each Director, and each former Director during the fi nancial year, and responsibility held, is listed next to their names.

Director Remuneration Responsibility Held

Bruce James Harker $130,000 Chairman

Non-executive Director

Member of Audit Committee

Member of Remuneration Committee

Ronald Powell Carter $75,000 Independent Director

Member of Audit Committee

Hugh Richmond Lloyd Morrison $65,000 Non-executive Director

Michael James Cooney $65,000 Non-executive Director

Geoffrey Jon Campbell Swier $98,352 Independent Director

Chairman of Audit Committee

Member of Remuneration Committee

Ian Samuel Knowles1 $36,750 Independent Director

Harold Mervyn Titter2 $314,723 Chairman 

Member of Audit Committee

Member of Remuneration Committee

Independent Director

1 Sam Knowles was appointed as a Director of the Company on 31 August 2007.

2 Harold Titter resigned as a Director of the Company and its subsidiaries on 26 July 2007.  Mr Titter’s remuneration includes the payment of a 

retirement allowance of $270,000 previously approved by shareholders.

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES

During the financial year the Company paid insurance premiums in respect of Directors’ and certain executive employees’ liability insurance, as 

permitted by the Company’s Constitution and the Companies Act 1993.  The policies do not specify the premium for individuals. This insurance 

extends to Directors and certain executive employees acting in the capacity of a director or on behalf of a subsidiary or related company.

The Directors’ and executive employees’ liability insurance provides cover against costs and expenses involved in defending legal actions and any 

resulting payments arising from a liability to persons (other than the Company or a related body corporate) incurred in their capacity as Director 

or executive employee unless the conduct involves a wilful breach of duty or an improper use of inside information or position to gain advantage.

The Company has entered into deeds of indemnity in respect of each Director, the Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer and Company 

Secretary, Strategic Business Development Manager, Generation Manager, Energy Sales Manager and Trading and Risk Manager whereby each 

such Director and executive employee is indemnified against the types of liability and costs described above, as permitted by the Company’s 

Constitution and the Companies Act 1993.
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SUBSIDIARY COMPANY DIRECTORS

Set out below are details of the Directors of TrustPower’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2008. Harold Mervyn Titter resigned as a Director of Cobb 

Power Limited and Tararua Wind Power Limited on 26 July 2007. 

Director as at 31 March 2008 TrustPower Group Company

Bruce James Harker TrustPower Metering Limited

Michael James Cooney Tararua Wind Power Limited

Cobb Power Limited

TrustPower Insurance Limited

TrustPower Australia (New Zealand) Limited

Tamaroa Raymond Nikora Waikaremoana Power Limited

Rangi Tumoana Manuel Waikaremoana Power Limited

Jeremy Graeme Schultz TrustPower Australia Holdings Pty Ltd

Te Maunga Renewable Investments Pty Ltd

Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd

Sellicks Hill Wind Farm Pty Ltd

Keith Neville Tempest Tararua Wind Power Limited

Cobb Power Limited

TrustPower Metering Limited

TrustPower Australia (New Zealand) Limited

TrustPower Insurance Limited

Bay Energy Limited

Pulse Business Solutions Limited

Paehinahina Mourea Geothermal Limited

Taheke Geothermal Limited

Waikaremoana Power Limited

TrustPower Australia Holdings Pty Ltd

Te Maunga Renewable Investments Pty Ltd

Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd

Sellicks Hill Wind Farm Pty Ltd

No Directors’ fees or other benefits were paid in relation to these Directorships during the financial year.  The remuneration and other benefits 

received by employees acting as Directors of subsidiaries during the financial year is disclosed in the relevant bandings for employee remuneration.  

Mr JG Schultz is a Partner in the Adelaide based law firm of Finlaysons. Finlaysons has acted for the Australian based subsidiaries in certain 

legal related matters and received $178,000 during the year to 31 March 2008 for legal services provided.

GENERAL NOTICE OF INTERESTS BY DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

Director Interest Entity

Bruce James Harker*

Michael James Cooney*

Harold Mervyn Titter*

Jeremy Graham Schultz Partner Finlaysons Adelaide

Keith Neville Tempest Chief Executive TrustPower Limited

Director GAP Business Solutions Limited

Director New Zealand Bus Limited

Director New Zealand Bus Finance Limited

* Refer General Notice of Interests by Directors

INFORMATION USED BY DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the financial year there were no notices from Directors of subsidiary companies requesting to disclose or use subsidiary company 

information received in their capacity as Directors which would not otherwise have been available to them.
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EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION

During the financial year the number of employees or former employees (including employees holding office as Directors of subsidiaries) who 

received remuneration and other benefits in their capacity as employees of the Company, the value of which was or exceeded $100,000 per 

annum was as follows:

Remuneration Ranges Number of Employees

$100,000 – 109,999 9

$110,000 – 119,999 7

$120,000 – 129,999 5

$130,000 – 139,999 -

$140,000 – 149,999 2

$150,000 – 159,999 2

$160,000 – 169,999 1

$170,000 – 179,999 3

$180,000 – 189,999 -

$190,000 – 199,999 4

$200,000 – 209,999 1

$210,000 – 219,999 -

$220,000 – 229,999 1

$310,000 – 319,000 1

$340,000 – 349,999 1

$350,000 – 359,999 1

$470,000 – 479,000 2

$480,000 – 489,000 1

$960,000 – 969,000 1

DIRECTORS’ TRANSACTIONS AND RELEVANT INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The relevant interests of Directors in securities of the Company as at 31 March 2008 are listed below together with transactions by Directors in 

securities of the Company during the financial year.

Director

Number 

Acquired/

(Disposed)

$ Amount 

Paid/

(Received) Date

Class of 

Security

Number Held 

at 31 March 

2008

Number Held 

at 31 March 

2007

BJ and JS Harker Family Trust 53,000 $51,788.59 19 December 2007 Bonds 103,000 50,000

RP Carter Family Trust - - - Bonds 200,000 200,000

MJ Cooney (beneficial) - - - Shares 1,000 1,000

MJ Cooney (non beneficial) - - - Bonds 150,000 150,000

MJ Cooney (non beneficial) - - - Shares 103,878,838 103,878,838

HRL Morrison (non beneficial) - - - Shares 159,215,388 159,215,388

The non beneficial shares recorded for MJ Cooney are held in his capacity as a Director of TECT Holdings Limited.

The non beneficial bonds recorded for MJ Cooney are held in his capacity as Trustee for an estate and a private trust.

The non beneficial shares recorded for HRL Morrison are held in his capacity as a Director of Infratil Limited.

The Company was not advised of any other security transactions by any Director during the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SECURITY HOLDERS

The Company’s register of substantial security holders, prepared in accordance with Section 26 of the Securities Markets Act 1988 recorded the 

following information at 2 May 2008. 

As at 2 May 2008, TrustPower Limited has 315,416,872 ordinary shares on issue.

SECURITY HOLDER CLASS OF SECURITY NUMBER

Infratil Limited Shares 159,215,388

TECT Holdings Limited Shares 103,878,838

SPREAD OF HOLDERS (AS AT 2 MAY 2008)

SHARES HOLDERS % SHARES %

1 to 999 1,023 7.81% 463,225 0.15%

1,000 to 1,999 1,691 12.92% 2,012,778 0.64%

2,000 to 4,999 9,290 70.97% 21,417,565 6.79%

5,000 to 9,999 709 5.42% 4,506,188 1.43%

10,000 to 49,999 325 2.48% 5,119,850 1.62%

50,000 to 99,999   19 0.15% 1,353,807 0.43%

100,000 to 499,999       19 0.15% 4,444,978 1.41%

500,000 to 999,999    5 0.04% 3,608,638 1.14%

1,000,000 plus  8 0.06% 272,489,843 86.39%

13,089 100.00% 315,416,872 100.00%

BONDS HOLDERS % BONDS %

1 to 999 -   0.00% -   0.00%

1,000 to 1,999 1 0.02% 1,000 0.00%

2,000 to 4,999 1 0.02% 2,000 0.00%

5,000 to 9,999 751 14.01% 4,249,000 1.99%

10,000 to 49,999 3,625 67.63% 74,166,000 34.69%

50,000 to 99,999 679 12.67% 39,507,000 18.47%

100,000 to 499,999 267 4.98% 37,763,000 17.66%

500,000 to 999,999 17 0.32% 9,808,000 4.59%

1,000,000 plus 19 0.35% 48,320,000 22.60%

5,360 100.00% 213,816,000 100.00%

SHARES HOLDERS % SHARES %

New Zealand 12,872 98.34% 313,253,882 99.31%

Australia 152 1.16% 2,039,963 0.65%

United Kingdom 20 0.15% 33,844 0.01%

United States of America 14 0.11% 38,709 0.01%

Other 31 0.24% 50,474 0.02%

13,089 100.00% 315,416,872 100.00%

BONDS HOLDERS % BONDS %

New Zealand 5,313 99.12% 209,822,000 98.13%

Australia 16 0.30% 2,722,000 1.27%

United States of America 4 0.08% 268,000 0.13%

United Kingdom 6 0.11% 170,000 0.08%

Other 21 0.39% 834,000 0.39%

5,360 100.00% 213,816,000 100.00%

VOTING RIGHTS

Every shareholder present in person, by proxy or by representative, on a vote by voices or a show of hands has one vote, and on a poll has one 

vote for each fully paid share held.

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

The Company’s shares and bonds are listed on the NZSX and NZDX, respectively.

CURRENT CREDIT RATING STATUS

TrustPower does not currently have an external credit rating.
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Security Holder Information

CURRENT NZX WAIVERS

NZX has granted a waiver dated 23 March 2006 from NZSX Listing Rule 8.1.7 (change of option exercise price or number of underlying 

securities) to enable the Company to issue options under the Company’s Executive Share Option Plan dated 28 February 2006 (as amended on 

12 May 2006) in accordance with the exercise price formula contained in the Rules of the Plan.  That exercise price formula permits the exercise 

price to be recalculated on a daily basis which may not be permitted by Listing Rule 8.1.7. The waiver has been granted on the condition that 

options outstanding issued under the Plan do not exceed 1% of the total shares of the Company.  This waiver was varied on 6 July 2006 to 

permit TrustPower to vary the exercise price of Options issued on 29 May 2006 by amending the formula to permit the dividend with a record 

date of 26 May 2006 to be included in the calculation of the exercise price, notwithstanding that the record date of such dividends was prior to 

the issue date of the Options.

NZX DISCIPLINARY ACTION

There has been no action taken by NZX in relation to the Company under Listing Rule 5.4.2.

LARGEST SECURITY HOLDERS (AS AT 2 MAY 2008)

RANK HOLDER NAME SHARES %

1 Infratil Limited 159,215,388 50.48%

2 TECT Holdings Limited 103,878,838 32.93%

3 Custodial Services Limited A/C 3 2,218,084 0.70%

4 ANZ Nominees Limited* 2,140,411 0.68%

5 Citibank Nominees (New Zealand) Limited* 1,718,920 0.54%

6 National Nominees New Zealand Limited* 1,599,560 0.51%

7 NZ Superannuation Fund Nominees Limited* 1,051,362 0.33%

8 HSBC Nominees (New Zealand) Limited* 1,013,052 0.32%

9 NZGT Nominees Limited - AIF Equity Fund* 919,311 0.29%

10 AMP Investments Strategic Equity Growth Fund* 829,973 0.26%

11 Custodial Services Limited A/C 2 784,604 0.25%

12 Premier Nominees Limited -ING Wholesale Australasian Share Fund* 552,112 0.18%

13 Asteron Life Limited*  522,638 0.17%

14 Custodial Services Limited A/C 1 419,180 0.13%

15 FNZ Custodians Limited  409,809 0.13%

16 Custody And Investment Nominees Limited* 388,378 0.12%

17 ASB Nominees Limited 100652 Ml A/C 345,938 0.11%

18 TEA Custodians Limited* 316,157 0.10%

19 ASB Nominees Limited A/C 800074 - Ml 253,454 0.08%

20 Custodial Services Limited A/C 4 244,160 0.08%

278,821,329 88.39%

* These names are registered in the name of New Zealand Central Securities Depository Limited.  

RANK HOLDER NAME BONDS %

1 Custodial Services Limited A/C 3 10,011,000 4.68%

2 Sterling Holdings Limited  4,902,000 2.29%

3 Custodial Services Limited A/C 2 4,276,000 2.00%

4 Investment Custodial Services Limited A/C C 4,190,000 1.96%

5 FNZ Custodians Limited  3,707,000 1.73%

6 Private Nominees Limited Resident A/C 3,089,000 1.44%

7 Eastern Central Community Trust Inc  2,250,000 1.05%

8 Citibank Nominees (New Zealand) Limited* 2,217,000 1.04%

9 TEA Custodians Limited*  2,050,000 0.96%

10 Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited Account 1 M 1,610,000 0.75%

11 Brycharl Corporation Limited  1,500,000 0.70%

12 NZ Guardian Trust Investment Nominees Limited* 1,268,000 0.59%

13 Presbyterian Savings & Development Society of New Zealand Incorporated  1,150,000 0.54%

14 Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited Account 1 L 1,097,000 0.51%

15 ASB Nominees Limited 677680 A/C 1,003,000 0.47%

16 Carter Holt Harvey Retirement Plan  1,000,000 0.47%

17 Fidelity Life Assurance Company Limited  1,000,000 0.47%

18 New Zealand Methodist Trust Association  1,000,000 0.47%

19 Palmerston North City Council  1,000,000 0.47%

20 Leon Robert Idoine & Mary Alice Idoine 905,000 0.42%

49,225,000 23.01%

* These names are registered in the name of New Zealand Central Securities Depository Limited.  
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T
rustPower has reported on 

Sustainability issues, in a number 

of forums over a number of years. 

However, this is the fi rst comprehensive 

sustainability report.

THE REASON FOR THIS REPORT

Producing a sustainability report is part 

of the process of defi ning what being a 

responsible sustainable organisation means 

to TrustPower and its stakeholders. It will 

help promote discussion both within the 

Company and the communities in which 

we operate.

TrustPower proposes to report on 

sustainability each year in conjunction with 

its annual report.

To determine which issues are of material 

importance, the Company considered issues 

that might impact the operation of the 

Company, the environment, the communities 

in which we operate, or substantially impact 

our individual customers and stakeholders.

Material measures are those identifi ed 

from stakeholder interaction (pages 17-18) 

and key risks (page 17). By choosing these 

measures the Company has produced a 

report aimed at all stakeholders.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING 

GUIDELINES

This Annual Report is available on 

TrustPower’s website, www.trustpower.co.nz 

and is compiled with reference to the Global 

Reporting Initiative (GRI) Sustainability 

Reporting Guidelines Version 3.0 (G3). 

It fully meets the content requirement of 

Application Level (C) and substantially 

meets the requirements of Application 

Level (B).

The GRI guidelines provide a voluntary 

reporting framework used by organisations 

around the world as the basis for 

sustainability reporting. The GRI is the 

generally accepted framework for 

‘measuring, disclosing, and being held 

accountable to internal and external 

stakeholders for organisation performance 

toward the goal of sustainable development’.

The GRI consists of a framework and 

guiding principles as well as a range of 

indicators that reporting organisations 

can report against. Indicators are chosen 

on the basis of materiality or signifi cance 

to the business and / or stakeholders. 

Not all indicators are reported against in 

this report.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Company has reviewed GRI’s G3 

Reporting Principles in an effort to provide 

a balanced and reasonable representation 

of TrustPower’s sustainability performance.

TrustPower applied the key principles of 

materiality, completeness, context, 

comparability, accuracy, timeliness, 

clarity, reliability and boundary setting.

REPORTING PERIOD, ACCURACY 

AND COMPLETENESS

This report is based on the performance 

and information for the fi nancial year to 

the end of March 2008. TrustPower uses 

in-house reporting systems to collect data 

for the GRI process.

BOUNDARY OF THE REPORT

This report covers the operations of 

TrustPower and all of its subsidiaries. 

Outside the scope of this report are 

outsourced customer services and a variety 

of fi eld services contractors.

EXTERNAL ASSURANCE

The fi nancial statements have been 

audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. 

Independent review of the Company’s 

impact on green house gasses carbon 

footprint is being completed by 

Landcare Research.

The remainder of the report has not 

been subjected to independent review.

 A full independent review of next year’s 

report is currently being considered by 

the Company.

About this Report
An Overview
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Sustainability GRI Index

This content index indicates which G3 indicators are applicable for TrustPower to report, where they are reported on in the report and to what 

extent they are reported.

Decisions regarding which indicators to report were also guided by the process we undertook to identify key issues and identify them according 

to their materiality. For example, many of the Human Rights indicators do not apply to a New Zealand company whose only offshore operations 

are in Australia. For completeness we have retained these measures in the following table and marked them (N/A) non applicable.

 Yes       No       Partially       Intend to report next year      N/A Non Applicable

1 PROFILE STRATEGY AND 
ANALYSIS

1.1 Statement from the CE 

and Chairman

5,11

1.2 Description of key impacts, risks 

and opportunities

16-17

2 ORGANISATIONAL PROFILE

2.1 Name of reporting organisation 2

2.2 Primary brands, products 

and / or services

2

2.3 Operational structure of the 

organisation

14,42

2.4 Location of the organisation’s 

headquarters

2

2.5 Countries in which the 

organisation operates

2

2.6 Nature of ownership and 

legal form

68

2.7 Nature of markets served 2

2.8 Scale of the reporting 

organisation

2

2.9 Significant changes in size, 

structure or ownership

2

2.10 Awards received in the 

reporting period

3

3 REPORTING PARAMETERS

3.1 Reporting period 69

3.2 Date of most recent previous 

report (if any)

69

3.3 Reporting cycle (annual, 

biennial etc)

69

3.4 Contact point for questions 

regarding the report or its 

questions

73

3.5 Process for defi ning report content 69

3.6 Boundary of the report 69

3.7 Specific limitations on the scope 

or boundary of the report

69

3.8 Basis for reporting on joint 

venture, subsidiaries, leased 

facilities, outsourced operations 

and other entities

69

3.9 Data measurement techniques 

and the basis of calculations

3.10 Explanation of the effect of any 

restatements

N/A 1st report

3.11 Significant scope, boundary or 

measurement changes

N/A 1st report

 GRI Content

3.12 GRI index table 70

3.13 External assurance policy 

and practice

69

4 GOVERNANCE

4.1 Governance structure of the 

organisation

28

4.2 Indicate whether the Chair of the 

highest governance body is also 

an executive officer

14

4.3 Independence of the Board 28

4.4 Mechanisms to provide 

recommendations to the Board

30

4.5 Linkage between performance 

and compensation

39

4.6 Avoiding conflict of interest 30

4.7 Qualifications and expertise of the 

members of the Board

14

4.8 Corporate mission and values 2

4.9 Board-level processes for 

identifying and managing risks 

and opportunities

29

4.10 Processes for evaluating the 

Board’s own performance

29

4.11 How the precautionary principle 

is addressed

29

4.12 External charters

4.13 Memberships in associations

4.14 List of stakeholder groups 

engaged by the organisation

17

4.15 Identification and selection 

of stakeholders

17

4.16 Approaches to stakeholder 

engagement

17

4.17 Key topics and concerns from 

stakeholder engagement

17

Profi le Disclosure Status Page RefProfi le Disclosure Status Page Ref
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Sustainability GRI Index

Profi le Disclosure Status Page Ref Profi le Disclosure Status Page Ref

ECONOMIC MANAGEMENT 
APPROACH AND INDICATORS

EC1 Direct economic value 28

EC2 Financial implications and other 

risks and opportunities from 

climate change

11

EC3 Defined benefit plan obligations N/A No plan in 

place

EC4 Significant financial assistance 

received from government

N/A None 

received

EC5 Entry level wage compared to 

minimum wage

EC6 Spending on locally-based 

suppliers

EC7 Procedures and practice for 

local hiring

24

EC8 Infrastructure investments 

and services

26

EC9 Significant indirect economic 

impacts

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT 
APPROACH AND INDICATORS

EN1 Materials used by weight or volume 19

EN2 Percentage of recycled input 

materials used

19

EN3 Direct energy consumption by 

primary energy source

19

EN4 Indirect energy consumption by 

primary source (core)

19

EN5 Energy saved: conservation and 

efficiency improvements

19

EN6 Renewable energy-based 

products and services

2

EN7 Initiatives to reduce indirect 

energy consumption

 19

EN8 Water used for processing 20

EN9 Water sources significantly 

affected by withdrawal of water

20

EN10 Percentage and total volume of 

water recycled and reused

20

EN11 Land owned, leased, managed in, 

or adjacent to, protected areas 

and areas of high biodiversity 

value outside protected areas

EN12 Impacts on biodiversity

EN13 Habitats protected and restored

EN14 Strategies for managing impacts 

on biodiversity

EN15 Endangered species with habitats 

in areas affected by operations

EN16 Greenhouse gas emissions 19

EN17 Other relevant indirect greenhouse 

gas emissions by weight

EN18 Initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas 

emissions and reductions achieved

19

EN19 Emissions of ozone-depleting 

substances

EN20 Emissions effluents and waste 19

EN21 Water discharge by quality 

and destination

20

EN22 Total weight of waste by type and 

disposal method

19

EN23 Total number and volume of 

significant spills

20

EN24 Transported hazardous waste N/A

EN25 Impact on water bodies 20

EN26 Initiatives to mitigate environmental 

impacts of products and services

22

EN27 Percentage of products sold and 

their packaging materials that 

are reclaimed

N/A

EN28 Monetary value of significant fines 

and total number of non-monetary 

sanctions for non-compliance 

with environmental laws and 

regulations

20

EN29 Transport impacts 19

EN30 Environmental protection 

expenditures and investments

LABOUR MANAGEMENT APPROACH 
AND INDICATORS

LA1 Total workforce by employment 

type, employment contract, 

and region

25

LA2 Total number and rate of 

employee turnover

25

LA3 Benefits provided to full-time 

employees that are not provided to 

temporary or part-time employees

LA4 Percentage of employees covered 

by collective bargaining agreements

LA5 Minimum notice period(s) regarding 

significant operational changes

LA6 Health and safety programmes 24

LA7 Injury data 25

LA8 Programmes to assist workforce 

members, their families, or 

community members regarding 

serious diseases
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Sustainability GRI Index

Profi le Disclosure Status Page Ref Profi le Disclosure Status Page Ref

LA9 Health and safety topics covered 

in formal agreements with trade 

unions

LA10 Average hours of training

LA11 Programmes for skills management 

and lifelong learning

24

LA12 Performance and career 

development reviews

LA13 Composition of governance 

bodies and breakdown of 

employees

25

LA14 Ratio of basic salary of men 

to women

25

HUMAN RIGHTS MANAGEMENT 
APPROACH AND INDICATORS

HR1 Significant investment agreements 

that include human rights

N/A

HR2 Significant suppliers and 

contractors that have undergone 

screening on human rights

N/A

HR3 Employee training on policies and 

procedures concerning aspects of 

human rights

HR4 Incidents of discrimination N/A No incidents

HR5 Operations identified in which 

the right to exercise freedom of 

association and collective bargaining 

may be at significant risk

N/A

HR6 Operations identified as having 

significant risk for incidents of 

child labour

N/A

HR7 Operations identified as having 

significant risk for incidents of 

forced or compulsory labour

N/A

HR8 Percentage of security personnel 

trained in the organisation’s 

policies or procedures concerning 

aspects of human rights

N/A

HR9 Total number of incidents of 

violations involving rights of 

indigenous people

N/A

SOCIETY MANAGEMENT APPROACH 
AND INDICATORS

SO1 Report on specific social issues 

related to electric utilities sector

12

SO2 Business units analysed for risks 

related to corruption

SO3 Employees trained in 

organisation’s anti-corruption 

policies and procedures

SO4 Actions taken in response to 

incidents of corruption

N/A No incidents 

reported

SO5 Public policy positions and 

participation in public policy 

development and lobbying

10

SO6 Financial contributions to 

political parties

N/A No 

contributions 

made

SO7 Total number of legal actions 

for anti-competitive behaviour, 

anti-trust, and monopoly practices

N/A No actions

SO8 Significant fines/sanctions for 

non-compliance with laws and 

regulations

20,23

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY 
MANAGEMENT APPROACH 
AND INDICATORS

PR1 Health and safety impacts of 

products and services

22

PR2 Incidents of non-compliance with 

regulations and voluntary codes 

concerning health and safety

20,24

PR3 Product and services information 22

PR4 Total number of incidents of non-

compliance with regulations and 

voluntary codes concerning 

product and service information 

and labelling

22

PR5 Customer satisfaction practices 

and measures

22

PR6 Programmes for adherence to 

laws, standards, and voluntary 

codes related to marketing 

communications

23

PR7 Total number of incidents of 

non-compliance with regulations 

and voluntary codes concerning 

marketing communication

23

PR8 Significant fines for non-

compliance with laws and 

regulations concerning the 

provision and use of products 

and services

22



Financial Calendar

Annual Meeting 31 July 2008

First quarter operating information  31 July 2008

Payment September bond interest 15 September 2008

Half year announcement 30 October 2008 

Record date interim dividend  28 November 2008

Payment December bond interest  15 December 2008 

Payment interim dividend  15 December 2008

Third quarter operating information  29 January 2009

Payment of March bond interest 13 March 2009 

Full year announcement  14 May 2009

Record date of fi nal dividend 29 May 2009

Payment of fi nal dividend  5 June 2009

Payment of June bond interest  15 June 2009 

Annual report due 30 June 2009

Board of Directors

Bruce J Harker - Chairman

Sir Ronald P Carter

Michael J Cooney

I Sam Knowles

HR Lloyd Morrison

Geoffrey JC Swier

Registered Offi ce

TrustPower Building

Truman Road

Te Maunga

Mount Maunganui

Website

www.trustpower.co.nz

Email Address

trustpower@trustpower.co.nz

Postal Address

Private Bag 12023

Tauranga

Telephone: 07 574 4800

Facsimile: 07 574 4825

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers

188 Quay Street

Auckland

Share Registrar

Computershare Investor Services Limited

159 Hurstmere Road

Takapuna

Private Bag 92119

Auckland

Telephone: 09 488 8700

Facsimile: 09 488 8787

Shareholders with enquiries about transactions, change of address

or dividend payments should contact the Share Registrar.

Stock Exchange Listing

New Zealand Exchange Limited

Level 2 NZX Centre

11 Cable Street

Wellington
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This year we are putting the focus on TrustPower 

people – our customers, our employees, and the 

people who we recognise every year for their 

outstanding contribution to our communities. 

We take a look at the way each and every one 

of these people contribute to our business and 

together we look forward to a powerful future.

Connecting with People

Directory

Otanewainuki Kiwi Trust 

photographs on page 12 by 

Moana Bianchin Photography. 
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